
BOROUGH OF BARROW-IN-FURNESS 
 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
 

            Meeting: Wednesday, 14th September, 2022 
            at 2.00 pm (Committee Room No. 4) 
 

A G E N D A 
 
PART ONE 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence/Attendance of Substitute Members.   
 

 

2.   Urgent Items 
 
To deal with any items which the Chair considers to be of an urgent 
nature.  
 

 

3.   Delegations 
 
To receive notice from Members who may wish to move any 
delegated matter non-delegated and which will be decided by a 
majority of Members present and voting at the meeting. 
 

 

4.   Admission of Public and Press 
 
To consider whether the public and press should be excluded from 
the meeting during consideration of any of the items on the agenda. 
 

 

5.   Declarations of Interest 
 
To receive declarations by Members and/or co-optees of interests in 
respect of items on this Agenda.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of 
Conduct, they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests or other registrable interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal 
offence not to declare a disclosable pecuniary interest either in the 
Register or at the meeting). 
 
Members may however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such 
disclosable pecuniary interests which they have already declared in 
the Register,  as well as any other registrable or other interests.   
 
 

 

6.   Minutes 
 
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 27th July, 2022. 
 

5 - 10 



 

 
7.   Public Participation 

 
Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make 
representations or present a deputation or petition at this meeting 
should apply to do so by no later than 5pm two working days before 
the meeting.  Information on how make the application can be 
obtained by viewing the Council’s website www.barrowbc.go.uk or by 
contacting the Democratic Services Team at 
jwhuck@barrowbc.gov.uk or by telephone on 07825206525. 
 
(1) Questions and Representations 

To receive any questions or representations which have been 
received from members of the public. 

 
(2) Deputations and Petitions 

To receive any deputations or petitions which have been 
received from members of the public. 

 
 

 

8.   Presentation by Cumbria Wildlife   
 
 

 

FOR DECISION  
 

 

(D) 9.   2022 Air Quality Annual Status Report and Air Quality Grant   
 
To consider the 2022 Air Quality Annual Status Report and Air Quality 
Grant. 
 

11 - 52 

(D) 10.   ECO4 LA Flex Statement of Intent   
 
To consider the ECO4 LA Flex Statement of Intent. 
 

53 - 58 

(D) 11.   2021-2022 Outturn   
 
To consider a report on the 2021-2022 Outturn. 
 

59 - 102 

(D) 12.   Brownfield Land Release Fund - Design Works (Part 1)   
 
To award the design tender for Salthouse Road/Cavendish Dock 

Road junction to the successful tenderer. 

 

Please note there is a Part 2 Appendix for this item. 

 

103 - 106 

(D) 13.   Piel Island New Facilities Block (Part 1)   
 
To award the design and build tender for the Piel Island facilities 
block to the successful tenderer. 
 

Please note there is a Part 2 Appendix for this item. 

107 - 110 

http://www.barrowbc.go.uk/
mailto:jwhuck@barrowbc.gov.uk


 

 
PART TWO  
 

 

(D) 14.   Part 2 Appendix 1 for Item 11 (Brownfield Land Release Fund - 
Design Works)  
 

NOT FOR PUBLICATION BY VIRTUE OF PARAGRAPH 3 OF PART 
ONE OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION (VARIATION) ORDER 2006 

 
 

111 - 112 

(D) 15.   Part 2 Appendix 1 for Item 12 Piel Island New Facilities Block  
 

NOT FOR PUBLICATION BY VIRTUE OF PARAGRAPH 3 OF PART 
ONE OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION (VARIATION) ORDER 2006 
 
 

113 - 114 

NOTE  (D) – Delegated 
  (R) – For Referral to Council 
 
 
 
Membership of Committee 
 
Councillors Brook (Chairman) 

L. Roberts (Vice-Chair) 
Barlow 
Biggins 
Burley 
Hamilton 
W. McClure 
Maddox 
Morgan 
Pemberton 
Shirley 
Wall 
 

 
For queries regarding this agenda, please contact: 
 

 Jon Huck 
Democratic and Electoral Services Manager 
01229 876312 
jwhuck@barrowbc.gov.uk 

 
Published: Tuesday, 6 September 2022 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
 

Meeting: Wednesday 27th July 2022  
at 2.00 pm. (Committee Room No. 4) 
 

PRESENT:- Councillors Brook (Chairman), Barlow, Biggins, Hamilton (Minute Nos. 35 
to 41 only), McClure, Maddox, Morgan, Roberts, Shirley and Wall. 
 
Officers Present:- Sam Plum (Chief Executive), Steph Cordon (Director of People and 
Place), Debbie Storr (Head of Legal and Governance) Chris Butler (Financial Services 
Manager), Les Davies (Head of Asset Management) (Minute Nos 28 to 33 and 41 
only), David Joyce (Commercial Estates Manager) (Minute Nos 28 to 39 and 41 only), 
and Jon Huck (Democratic and Electoral Services Manager). 
 
28 – Apologies for Absence/Attendance of Substitute Members 
 
An apology for absence had been received from Councillor Burley. 
 

29 – The Local Government Act, 1972 as amended by the Local Government 
(Access to Information) Act, 1985 and Access to Information (Variation) 
Order 2006 - Urgent Item 

 
RESOLVED:- That by reason of the special circumstances outlined below the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the following item of business not specified on the 
agenda should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency in accordance 
with Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

Item        Reason 
 
Heritage Grants Scheme (Minute No. To ensure appropriate delegations 
43) in place to enable the grants to be 

signed off as soon as possible. 
 
30 – The Local Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local Government 

(Access to Information) Act 1985 and Access to Information (Variation) 
Order 2006  

 
Discussion arising hereon it was:-  
 
RESOLVED:- That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in Paragraph 3 (Minute Nos. 38 and 39) and Paragraphs 3 and 5 (Minute No. 40) of 
Part One of Schedule 12A of the said Act. 
 
31 – Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillor Shirley declared an Interest in Agenda Item 12 - Contract Matter (Minute 
No 40). 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



32 – Minutes 
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2022 were agreed as a correct record. 
 
33 – Public Participation 
 
RESOLVED:- To note that no questions, representations, deputations or petitions had 
been received in respect of the meeting. 
 
34 - Heritage Grant Schemes 
 
The Head of Legal and Governance reported that the Council had a High Street 
Heritage Action Zone - Repair Grant Scheme funded by the government and 
administered by Historic England.  Grants awarded under the Scheme were part-
funded by the Council’s which was referred to as match funding. 
 
The Council also had the Micro to Mighty Grant Scheme, which was funded by the 
National Lottery Heritage Fund. 
 
The report sought delegation for the Head of Regeneration & Planning Policy to 
determine grant awards. 
 
Members asked for the delegation to be in consultation with the Lead Member for 
Heritage and Wildlife. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Morgan and seconded by Councillor Wall, and 
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
To delegate to the Head of Regeneration & Planning Policy, in consultation with the 
Lead Member for Heritage and Wildlife, to determine the heritage grant awards. 
 
35 – UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
 
The Director of People and Place updated the Committee on progress made in 
producing the final version of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) Investment 
Plan for Barrow, and the work completed to date with Eden and South Lakeland District 
Councils which would be delivered by Westmorland and Furness Council following 
vesting day. 
 
She commented that due to the work involved in pulling together the draft Investment 
Pan and the fact that the final version was still being worked on she recommended 
that the recommendations included delegations to the Director of People and Place in 
consultation with the Chair of Executive Committee the authority to submit the 
Investment Plan to Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) 
by 1 August 2022. 
 
Also government guidance had set out 41 interventions across the three themes that 
could be chosen to form the basis of the Investment Plans.  From assessing their 
alignment with current strategic objectives and informed by the concepts submitted as 

Page 6

Agenda Item 6



part of the stakeholder engagement sessions, the three districts had provisionally 
identified 13 interventions that were detailed in the report. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Morgan and seconded by Councillor Barlow, and 
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
1. To note the evidence base and draft intervention list attached at Appendix 1; 
 
2. To delegate to the Director of People and Place in consultation with the Chair 

of Executive Committee authority to finalise the UKSPF Investment Plan 
including the consideration of comments from the Westmorland and Furness 
Local Partnership Group; 

 
3. To delegate to the Director of People and Place in consultation with the Chair 

of Executive Committee the authority to submit the Investment Plan to 
Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) by 1 August 
2022; 

 
4. To delegate to the Director of People and Place in consultation with the Chair 

of Executive Committee the authority to agree a business case development 
process to accept specific projects into the Investment Plan; and 

 
5. To record appreciation of the work that partners and officers have contributed 

within short timeframes to develop an evidence-based approach to priority 
setting for the UKSPF Investment Plan. 

 
36 – Hanging Basket and Plant Contract 
 
The Director of People and Place report updated the Committee on the contract and 
the current arrangement to cover summer 2022 with a view to having a new contract 
in place for spring plants 2023 onwards. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton and seconded by Councillor Maddox, and 
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
1. To note the updated position on the contract; and 
 
2. To request Officers provide an update on arrangements for Spring Plants 2023 

onwards. 
 
37 – Capital Programme 
 
The Director of Resources report informed the Committee that the Capital Programme 
2021-2025 had been presented to this Committee on 9 March 2022.  
 
The report contained the outturn for 2021-2022, details of slippage into 2022- 2023, 
and other revisions to 2022-2023 and future years. 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



It was moved by Councillor Barlow and seconded by Councillor Roberts, and 
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
1. To note the 2021-2022 outturn; and 
 
2. To approve the Capital Programme 2022-2025. 
 
Local Government Act 1972 - Excluded Items  
 
It was moved by Councillor Roberts and seconded by Councillor Hamilton that the 
meeting moved into Part Two, and  
 
RESOLVED:- That the items to be taken in Part Two of the Agenda be dealt with 
following the exclusion of the press and the public. 
 
38 – Long Term Lease 
 
The Director of Resources report informed the Committee that a request had been 
received for a 25 year peppercorn lease as set out in the Part 2 report. 
 
Members raised that regard be had to the Community Lettings Policy. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Wall and seconded by Councillor Barlow, and 
 
RESOLVED:-  
 
1. To grant a 25 year peppercorn lease as set out in the Part 2 report; 
 
2. To approve the use from the Contingency Reserve to cover the budget shortfall 

created in 2022-2023 as set out in the report; and 
 
3. To note that the Medium Term Financial Plan budget deficit shall increase by 

£6,000 per annum. 
 
39 – Lease Termination - Dilapidations Notice 
 
The Director of People and Place report detailed the current position regarding the 
termination of a lease. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Wall and seconded by Councillor Morgan, and 
 
RESOLVED:- 
 
1. To approve the settlement for terminal dilapidations as agreed between the 

parties as detailed within the report; and 
 
2. To authorise Officers to sign the settlement agreement. 
 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 6



40 – Contract Matter 
 
The Committee received a report from the Director of Resources on a Contract Matter. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton and seconded by Councillor McClure, and 
 
RESOLVED:- That the resolutions as set out in the Exempt Minute be agreed. 

REFERRED ITEM 
 

THE FOLLOWING MATTERS ARE REFERRED TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION 

 
41 – Strategic Asset Management Plan 2022-2023 
 
The Head of Asset Management reported that as we move towards Local Government 
Reorganisation in 2023, the nature of public services would change and new ways of 
working and new technologies would need to be adopted to facilitate the merging of 
Barrow into the new unitary authority Westmorland and Furness Council. 
 
The Strategic Asset Management Plan which was considered by the Committee was 
intended to promote a common understanding of emerging issues and priority actions 
in the short to medium-term.  It was not a static document, but part of a process 
designed to engage Members, officers, partners and customers in a debate about the 
nature of and future management direction for the Council’s land and property 
resource to influence regeneration and economic development 
 
It was moved by Councillor Morgan and seconded by Councillor Barlow; and 
 
RESOLVED:- To recommend the Council:- 
 
1. To agree the Strategic Asset Management Plan (SAMP) as attached to the 

report; 
 
2. To agree to the investment profiles identified in Part 5 of the SAMP; and 
 
3. To agree to the Priorities and Actions identified in Part 6 of the SAMP. 
 
The meeting closed at 3.00 pm. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee 

Wednesday, 14 September 2022 

2022 Air Quality Annual Status Report and Air Quality Grant  

 
 

Report from:   Director of People and Place 

Report Authors:  Graham Barker 

Alison Coward 

Wards:    (All Wards); 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions  

1.1  The statutory Air Quality Annual Status Report (APPENDIX 1) has been submitted 

to and appraised by the Department of Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

(DEFRA). This contains the monitoring data from 2021 and a summary of the 

actions taken in that year to improve local air quality.  

1.2  The Status Report shows that Covid-19 is still the significant factor affecting the 

results from 2021, with lockdowns and a move towards home working we saw less 

cars on the road for both business and leisure purposes. This meant that nitrogen 

dioxide levels appeared to be much lower in 2021 than 2019, although levels have 

increased from 2020. 

1.3  To request support of an application to DEFRA’s Air Quality grant, for the purpose 

of applying for monies towards particulate matter (PM2.5) monitoring and a 

communications campaign aimed at raising awareness about air pollution. 

 

2.0  Recommendation  

2.1  It is recommended that:-  

 

1. Members note the statutory annual status report;  

 

2. Members support the submission of an application to DEFRA for an Air 

Quality grant as detailed within the report; and 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 9



3. Agree that delegated authority be given to the Director of People and 

Place in consultation with the Chair of Executive Committee and the 

Director of Resources to enter into a funding agreement, if successful. 

 

3.0 Background and Proposals  

3.1  Action on local air quality is a legal duty placed upon the Council (and all district 

and county councils) by Part IV of the Environment Act 1995. Safeguarding air 

quality will help reduce any detrimental effects from air pollution on the health and 

wellbeing of Barrow’s population. We are required under this legislation to submit 

an Annual Status Report to DEFRA using their template and to present the report 

to members at a local level.  

3.2 There are two national objectives for levels of nitrogen dioxide (NO2). These are 

for the average level over a whole year, which should be below 40 µg/m3, and the 

average level for one hour, which should not exceed 200 µg/m3 on more than 18 

occasions during a year. Local authorities are told that this one-hour standard is 

unlikely to be exceeded where the average level over a whole year is below 60 

µg/m3 so this measurement is a commonly used proxy. The annual average 

objective applies to residential, hospital and education sites. The hourly average 

objective applies to these sites and to busy streets and workplaces as well. 

3.3 Barrow Borough Council has a monitoring network that is designed to identify the 

areas with the highest levels of nitrogen dioxide, at the locations where the 

objectives apply. Most of the monitoring sites are therefore on residential 

properties in close proximity to the busiest roads and junctions in the borough. The 

results are therefore not representative of typical or average conditions across the 

Borough, most of the monitoring sites are indicative of the worse-case locations. 

3.4 The measured annual mean concentrations in 2021 for NO2 indicate that the 

objective of 40µg/m3 was not exceeded at any of the monitoring locations in the 

Borough. The 2021 monitoring campaign for of NO2 at Lindal-in-Furness has 

resulted in an increased annual mean of 24.0 µg/m3 after it decreased significantly 

to 22.0 µg/m3 in 2020 from 33.0 µg/m3 in 2019 and 34.6 µg/m3 in 2018. This can 

only be attributed to vehicle restrictions during the COVID-19 lockdowns as well 

as a shift to working from home caused by the same in 2020 and 2021. The Annual 

Status Report (Appendix 1) shows maps of the monitoring sites at Appendix D on 

page 21.  

3.5 The Status Report has been appraised by DEFRA and found to meet the required 

standard. 

 

 

Page 12

Agenda Item 9



4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Particulate matter (PM) is the term used to describe condensed phase (solid or 

liquid) particles suspended in the atmosphere. Their potential for causing health 

problems is directly linked to the size of the particles. A growing body of research 

has pointed towards the smaller particles, in particular PM less than 2.5 µm in 

diameter (PM2.5), as a metric more closely associated with adverse health effects 

than other metrics such as PM10 (particles with a diameter less than 10 µm). 

4.2 DEFRA’s Local Air Quality Management Policy Guidance (PG16) (Chapter 7), 

details how local authorities are expected to work towards reducing emissions 

and/or concentrations of PM2.5 and outline their approach to DEFRA in the Annual 

Status Report. In the 2022 Annual Status Report report we committed to seek 

funding to monitor particulate matter.  

4.3 A 2018 report by the British Lung Foundation highlighted Barrow-in-Furness as a 

place with a number of health centres in areas which exceed estimated safe PM2.5 

concentrations. This survey was based on modelled data therefore, only way to 

refute this, would be to monitor concentration levels in these areas. The Council 

currently do not have the appropriate equipment to able the monitoring of PM2.5. 

4.4 Burning wood and coal in open fires and stoves makes up 38% of the UK’s primary 

emissions of PM2.5. Local information indicating the actual use of solid fuels in the 

Borough is not currently available, however the housing stock of the Borough is 

dominated by older, terraced housing and 45% was built pre-1919, so it is 

important that we raise awareness about emissions in the home which can harm 

health and also contribute significantly to emissions. 

4.5 An opportunity to seek funding to monitor particulate matter has arisen. Lot 2 of 

DEFRA’s Air Quality Grant 22/23 has recently opened and is available to all 

English Local Authorities until 23rd September 2022. The criteria for Lot 2 is:  

i. Projects that improve public awareness in local communities about the risks 

of air pollution.  

ii. Projects that deal with Particulate Matter 

4.6  Our application requests funding for monitors to collect local data from hot spots 

in the borough and from inside people's homes, building a picture of how domestic 

burning affects individuals as well as the wider community. We will use this data 

to encourage behaviour change, along with a targeted communications campaign 

to raise public awareness about the risks of air pollution, linked with other 

campaigns that can offer viable alternatives for heat such as the Cold to Cosy and 

Sustainable Warmth Schemes. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 9



4.7 The grant requested would be £70,000 which includes monitoring costs of £20,000 

for 1 large and 3 smaller units, monitoring PM1, PM2.5 and PM10, as well as NO2. 

This includes solar panels, 4G sim and the data dashboard and service costs for 

the first 3 years and £50,000 for a communications campaign. The public 

awareness campaign would focus on how heating and fuel choices affect health – 

using local data – and would highlight where people can access grants or 

information about what options are best for their homes.   

 

5.0 Consultation  

5.1 None 

 

6.0  Alternative Options  

6.1 We could opt not to submit the application to DEFRA for an Air Quality Grant. 

 

7.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

7.1 Priority 2: Place, Action: Deliver our Climate Emergency Action Plan, Outcome: 

Our environment is enhanced, protected and celebrated. 

 

7.2 Climate Change Policy 2020-25, Objective 2 – Reducing energy consumption 

and emissions from homes and businesses in the Borough and Objective 6 – 

Increase public awareness around climate change. 

 

 

8.0 Implications  

8.1.1 Financial, Resources and Procurement  

8.1.1 The application is to fund the project. There is a 10% match funding requirement 

which can be met through staff time. Therefore, there will be staff resource 

implications for the delivery of this project, but these will be met from existing 

budgets.   

 

8.1.2 Legal  

8.2.1 There are no legal issues to raise. 

 

8.2 Local Government Reorganisation 

8.2.1 Should the project bid be successful, the funding would only be awarded in 

March / April 2023 so measures would need to be in place to transfer the money 

for this project to WAF.    

 

8.3  Equality and Diversity 
  

8.3.1 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No 

 
 
 

Page 14

Agenda Item 9



Risk 

 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

  Funding not obtained May need to fund the 

purchase of particulate 

matter monitoring 

equipment in the future 

None 

 

Contact Officers  

Graham Barker, Head of Public Protection gebarker@barrowbc.gov.uk 

Alison Coward, Senior Environmental Protection Officer acoward@barrowbc.gov.uk 

 

 

Appendices Attached to this Report – If none, please state none or delete section 

 

Appendix No.  Name of Appendix  

1  Air Quality Annual Status Report 2022 

 

Background Documents Available 

 

Name of Background document  Where it is available  

Policy Guidance LAQM.PG16 https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/documents/LAQM-PG16-
April-16-v1.pdf  

 

British Lung Foundation, 2018, Toxic 

air at the door of the NHS. 
https://www.blf.org.uk/take-action/campaign/nhs-
toxic-air-report 

  

Air Quality Grant Scheme https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/air-
quality-grant-programme 

  

  

Page 15

Agenda Item 9

mailto:gebarker@barrowbc.gov.uk
mailto:acoward@barrowbc.gov.uk
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/documents/LAQM-PG16-April-16-v1.pdf
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/documents/LAQM-PG16-April-16-v1.pdf
https://www.blf.org.uk/take-action/campaign/nhs-toxic-air-report
https://www.blf.org.uk/take-action/campaign/nhs-toxic-air-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/air-quality-grant-programme
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/air-quality-grant-programme


This page is intentionally left blank



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2022 Air Quality Annual Status Report (ASR) 
Barrow Borough Council 
 
In fulfillment of Part IV of the 
Environment Act 1995 
Local Air Quality Management 
 
June 2022 
 

 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022   

 

 

Local Authority 
Officer Alison Coward 

Department Public Protection Services 

Address 

Town Hall 
Duke Street 
Barrow-in-Furness 
Cumbria 
LA14 2LD 

Telephone 01229 876382 

E-mail acoward@barrowbc.gov.uk 

Report Reference 
number ASR2022 

Date June 2022 
 

Page 18

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  i 

Executive Summary: Air Quality in Our Area 
Air Quality in the Borough of Barrow-in-Furness 
Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts. It is recognised 

as a contributing factor in the onset of heart disease and cancer. Additionally, air 

pollution particularly affects the most vulnerable in society: children, the elderly, and 

those with existing heart and lung conditions. There is also often a strong correlation 

with equalities issues, because areas with poor air quality are also often the less 

affluent areas1,2. 

The mortality burden of air pollution within the UK is equivalent to 28,000 to 36,000 

deaths at typical ages3, with a total estimated healthcare cost to the NHS and social 

care of £157 million in 20174. 

In the Borough of Barrow-in-Furness (the Borough), 3.7% of mortality is attributable 

to particulate air pollution, the highest in Cumbria5. 

The Borough has not declared any Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA’s) and 

NO2 concentrations remain below the annual ‘Air Quality Objective’ of 40µg/m3. 

Measured background levels for NO2 in the Borough have shown an encouraging 

steady decrease since monitoring began in the early 1990’s. 

NO2 concentration levels across the Borough in 2021 were still lower than previous 

years due to Covid-19. Concentrations on the A590 near to Lindal-in-Furness remain 

the highest in the Borough, the A590 is the major road transport link into the area 

seeing 19498 vehicle movements each day6. However this figure, which had been 

increasing year-on-year, is the lowest since 2016 and the number of daily pedal 

cycles on this road increased 26% to 71 per day. In order to continue these trends, 

we need to encourage people to continue to work from home, use sustainable 

transport, car share, drive more efficient vehicles and reduce the number of home 

deliveries. 

 
 

1 Environmental equity, air quality, socioeconomic status and respiratory health, 2010 
2 Air quality and social deprivation in the UK: an environmental inequalities analysis, 2006 
3 Defra. Air quality appraisal: damage cost guidance, July 2020 
4 Public Health England. Estimation of costs to the NHS and social care due to the health impacts of air pollution: 
summary report, May 2018 
5 Public Health England, 2019, Public Health Profiles,  https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/  
6 Department for Transport, 2021: https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/manualcountpoints/57340 

Page 19

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/air%20pollution#page/4/gid/1/pat/6/ati/301/are/E07000027/iid/30101/age/230/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/air%20pollution#page/4/gid/1/pat/6/ati/301/are/E07000027/iid/30101/age/230/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1
https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/manualcountpoints/57340


Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  ii 

Actions to Improve Air Quality 
Whilst air quality has improved significantly in recent decades, and will continue to 

improve due to national policy decisions, there are some areas where local action is 

needed to improve air quality further.  

The 2019 Clean Air Strategy7 sets out the case for action, with goals to reduce 

exposure to harmful pollutants. The Road to Zero8 sets out the approach to reduce 

exhaust emissions from road transport through a number of mechanisms; this is 

extremely important given that the majority of Air Quality Management Areas 

(AQMAs) are designated due to elevated concentrations heavily influenced by 

transport emissions. 

Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council declared a climate emergency on 16th July 2019 

and made a commitment to reduce carbon emissions. Following the climate 

emergency declaration, a working group was established comprising cross party 

councillors and cross-departmental council officers to look at all areas of policy and 

delivery. The working group created a 5 year Climate Change Policy which was 

agreed at full council on 16th June 2020. That policy sets out the ambition for the 

Borough to be net zero carbon no later than 2037. The full policy can be accessed 

here: Barrow Borough Councils Climate Change Policy 2020-2025. To achieve this, 

Barrow Borough Council has committed to: 

1. Reduce emissions from Barrow Borough Councils estate and operations; 

2. Reduce energy consumption and emissions from homes and businesses in 

the Borough; 

3. Reduce emissions from transport; 

4. Reduce consumption of resources, increasing recycling and reducing waste; 

5. Increase carbon capture to offset emissions; 

6. Increase public awareness around climate change. 

Delivery of the policy is initially through the Low Carbon Barrow project, which 

includes installing electric vehicle chargepoints in council owned carparks across the 

Borough and replacing council fleet diesel vehicles with electric ones. We ran a 

 
7 Defra. Clean Air Strategy, 2019 
8 DfT. The Road to Zero: Next steps towards cleaner road transport and delivering our Industrial Strategy, July 2018 

Page 20

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1

https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/8373.pdf
https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/8373.pdf


Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  iii 

citizens jury made up of local residents in 2021/22, to increase public awareness 

around climate change and to inform future policy. The recommendations of the jury 

include improvements to walking and cycling infrastructure and sustainable transport 

options, they can be found here: Furness Climate Change Citizens Jury 

Recommendations Report.  

 

It is also important that we raise awareness about emissions in the home which can 

harm health and also contribute significantly to emissions. Burning wood and coal in 

open fires and stoves makes up 38% of the UK’s primary emissions of fine 

particulate matter (PM2.5)9. Local information indicating the actual use of solid fuels in 

the Borough is not currently available, however the housing stock of the Borough is 

dominated by older, terraced housing and 45% was built pre-1919, so it is safe to 

assume that this will also be an issue locally. The authority also regularly receives 

complaints in relation to smoke nuisances.  

A 2018 report by the British Lung Foundation highlighted Barrow in Furness as a 

place with a number of health centres in areas which exceed estimated safe PM2.5 

concentrations10. They did this by extracting postcodes of health centres from the 

NHS Digital Database and then modelling 2018 concentrations, based on the Defra 

2015 background maps, which are modelled at a one kilometre by one kilometre grid 

square resolution. Analysis of the figures show that in all cases, the contributions 

from domestic, institutional and commercial space heating are greatest (defined as 

domestic sources within or outside the grid square).  

While we may not agree with this modelled data, it may be necessary to target a 

campaign around indoor air quality to highlight the fact that health is affected when 

breathing air affected by smoke, either inside or outside your home. Diagram A below 

shows the difference in particulate emissions inside your home from the various 

heating choices that are generally available.  

Diagram A – Diagram showing the difference in particulate emissions inside your 
home from different heating methods. (DEFRA, 2019) 

 
9 DEFRA, 2019, Clean Air Strategy, Available: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/770715/clean-
air-strategy-2019.pdf  
10 British Lung Foundation, 2018, Toxic air at the door of the NHS, Available: https://www.blf.org.uk/take-
action/campaign/nhs-toxic-air-report 

Page 21

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1

https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/9633.pdf
https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/9633.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/770715/clean-air-strategy-2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/770715/clean-air-strategy-2019.pdf
https://www.blf.org.uk/take-action/campaign/nhs-toxic-air-report
https://www.blf.org.uk/take-action/campaign/nhs-toxic-air-report


Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  iv 

 

In addition to regulatory requirements, this authority seeks to improve air quality by 

scrutinising planning applications and new developments that are required to carry 

out an air quality assessment and where appropriate, an outline of how emissions 

are to be mitigated.  We therefore work closely with other agencies such as Cumbria 

County Council, the Environment Agency and neighbouring authorities, and consult 

on future developments and proposals taking into consideration air quality and 

potential cumulative effects. 

 

Conclusions and Priorities 
Covid-19 is still the significant factor affecting the results from 2021, with lockdowns 

and a move towards home working we saw less cars on the road for both business 

and leisure purposes.  

There are no exceedances at any site but there is still concern regarding high traffic 

flow on the A590 so NO2 monitoring will continue at Lindal-in-Furness, as it is the site 

with the highest emissions and is not back to pre Covid-19 levels.  

There is also an ambition to monitor PM2.5 in Barrow in Furness, which means we will 

be seeking investment for a particulate monitor in 2022. 

Local Engagement and How to Get Involved 
The general public can get involved and can comment on planning applications if 

they have further concerns with regards to air quality. This Authority is open and 

transparent to air quality issues and seeks the opinion and views of individuals or 

Page 22

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  v 

groups that have a vested concern in air quality. Feedback on the contents of this 

document can be sent using the contact details at the start of this report. 

Local Responsibilities and Commitment 
This ASR was prepared by the Public Protection Department of Barrow-in-Furness 

Borough Council with the support and agreement of the Head of Public Protection. 

This ASR will be taken to Senior Management Team, Executive Committee and Full 

Council following submission to DEFRA. 

This ASR has not been signed off by a Director of Public Health. 

If you have any comments on this ASR please send them to Alison Coward at 

acoward@barrowbc.gov.uk 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  vi 

 

Table of Contents 
Executive Summary: Air Quality in Our Area .......................................................... i 

Air Quality in the Borough of Barrow-in-Furness ................................................................. i 

Actions to Improve Air Quality ............................................................................................ ii 

Conclusions and Priorities ................................................................................................ iv 

Local Engagement and How to Get Involved .................................................................... iv 

Local Responsibilities and Commitment............................................................................. v 

1 Local Air Quality Management ........................................................................ 1 

2 Actions to Improve Air Quality ........................................................................ 2 

2.1 Air Quality Management Areas .............................................................................. 2 

2.2 Progress and Impact of Measures to address Air Quality in Barrow-in-

Furness Borough .............................................................................................................. 2 

2.3 PM2.5 – Local Authority Approach to Reducing Emissions and/or 

Concentrations.................................................................................................................. 7 

3 Air Quality Monitoring Data and Comparison with Air Quality 
Objectives and National Compliance ...................................................................... 8 

3.1 Summary of Monitoring Undertaken ...................................................................... 8 

3.2 Individual Pollutants .............................................................................................. 8 

Appendix A: Monitoring Results ........................................................................... 13 

Appendix B: Full Monthly Diffusion Tube Results for 2021 ................................ 16 

Appendix C: Supporting Technical Information / Air Quality Monitoring 
Data QA/QC ............................................................................................................. 18 

New or Changed Sources Identified Within the Borough of Barrow-in-Furness 

During 2021 .....................................................................................................................18 

Additional Air Quality Works Undertaken by Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

During 2021 .....................................................................................................................18 

QA/QC of Diffusion Tube Monitoring ................................................................................18 

Appendix D: Map(s) of Monitoring Locations ...................................................... 21 

Appendix E: Summary of Air Quality Objectives in England .............................. 24 

Glossary of Terms .................................................................................................. 25 

References .............................................................................................................. 26 

 
 
 

Page 24

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  vii 

Tables 
Table 2.2 – Progress on Measures to Improve Air Quality ...................................................................... 5 

Table A.2 – Details of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites .........................................................................13 

Table A.3 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results ...............................................................................14 

Table B.1 – NO2 Monthly Diffusion Tube Results - 2020 ......................................................................15 

 
Figures 
Figure A.2 – Trends in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations measured at Diffusion Tube 

Background Site (Dowdales School 1993-2020 [Bias Adjusted])………………………………………....10 

Figure A.3 – Trends in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations measured at Diffusion Tube 

Background Site (Dowdales School 2011-2020 [Bias Adjusted])………………………………………....10 

Figure A.4 – Trends in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations measured at Diffusion Tube 

Roadside Site (Lindal-in-Furness 2011-2020 [Bias Adjusted])………………………………………....11

Page 25

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  1 

1 Local Air Quality Management 
This report provides an overview of air quality in Barrow-in-Furness Borough during 

2021. It fulfils the requirements of Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) as set out 

in Part IV of the Environment Act (1995) and the relevant Policy and Technical 

Guidance documents. 

The LAQM process places an obligation on all local authorities to regularly review 

and assess air quality in their areas, and to determine whether or not the air quality 

objectives are likely to be achieved. Where an exceedance is considered likely the 

local authority must declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and prepare 

an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) setting out the measures it intends to put in place 

in pursuit of the objectives. This Annual Status Report (ASR) is an annual 

requirement showing the strategies employed by Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

to improve air quality and any progress that has been made. 

The statutory air quality objectives applicable to LAQM in England can be found in 

Table E.1 in Appendix E. 

Page 26

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  2 

2 Actions to Improve Air Quality 
2.1 Air Quality Management Areas 
Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) are declared when there is an exceedance 

or likely exceedance of an air quality objective. After declaration, the authority must 

prepare an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) within 12-18 months setting out measures 

it intends to put in place in pursuit of the objectives. 

Barrow-In-Furness Borough currently does not have any AQMAs. An Air Quality 

Action Plan is therefore not required, however Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council is 

committed to improving air quality in the Borough, the details of measures being 

taken can be found in Table 2.2. 

2.2 Progress and Impact of Measures to address Air 
Quality in Barrow-in-Furness Borough 

Defra’s appraisal of last year’s ASR concluded that: 

The report is well structure, detailed, and provides the information specified in 

the Guidance. The following comments are designed to help inform future 

reports. 

1. The Council have reported their progress against air quality improvement 

measures and outlined the priorities for the coming year. This is welcomed 

and we encourage the Council to provide updates on the progress of these 

priority measures in the next ASR, particularly on the progress for monitoring 

PM2.5.  

2. The reasoning for changes to the monitoring network are accepted as they 

represent busy roadside locations where sensitive receptors such as schools 

are present. Trends in air quality should continue to be reported where data 

is available. 

3. Some monitoring results are reported to two decimal places. For 

consistency, all results should be reported to one decimal place. Monitoring 

results for sites that were not in the monitoring network in 2020 do not need 

to be reported, especially as their details are not presented in Table A.2. 

There is an inconsistency in the site type for BCKGD 1, the Council should 

ensure this is corrected in future reports. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  3 

4. The Council have reported all relevant details required for the QA/QC of 

monitoring data; however, the ASR would benefit from a sentence to explain 

that no distance correction has been applied. The information provided on 

the use of the bias adjustment spreadsheet is sufficient, but a screen capture 

of the relevant bias adjustment spreadsheet could also be included. 

5. A consistent table format should be applied throughout the report, in line with 

the template provided. Broken links in the report should be updated. 

6. Overall, the report is detailed, concise and mostly satisfies the criteria of the 

relevant reporting standard. The Council should continue their good work. 

 

Report author response: Comments noted, with thanks. 

 

Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council has taken forward a number of direct measures 

during the current reporting year of 2021 in pursuit of improving local air quality. 

Details of all measures completed, in progress or planned are set out in Table 2.2. 

8 measures are included within Table 2.2, with the type of measure and the progress 

Barrow Borough Council have made during the reporting year of 2021 presented. 

Where there have been, or continue to be, barriers restricting the implementation of 

the measure, these are also presented within Table 2.2. 

 

Key completed measures are:  

• Low Carbon Barrow project has progressed through delivery phases, including 

ordering electric vehicles for Council’s fleet and installing electric vehicle 

charging points in carparks around the Borough; 

• Furness Climate Change Citizens’ Jury took place over winter 2021/22, with 

recommendations around cycling and walking infrastructure and sustainable 

transport reached by the jury; 

 

Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council expects the following measures to be completed 

over the course of the next reporting year: 

• Work to continue on the Climate Change action plan; 

• Take delivery of electric vehicles for Council’s car fleet; 

Page 28

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  4 

• New cycle lanes completed on Michaelson Bridge and Ferry Road; 

• To apply for funding for a PM2.5 monitor by the end of 2022; 

• Engagement with locals on sustainable transport options. 

 

Barrow Borough Council’s priorities for the coming year are to improve cycling and 

walking infrastructure across the Borough and to promote the use of sustainable 

transport options. 

Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council worked to implement these measures in 

partnership with the following stakeholders during 2021: 

• Zero Carbon Cumbria Partnership; 

• Cumbria County Council. 

The principal challenges and barriers to implementation that Barrow-in-Furness 

Borough Council anticipates facing are a lack of funding and the staffing difficulties 

and disruption caused by Local Government Reorganisation.  

Progress on the following measures has been slower than expected due to lack of 

staff resource: 

• To apply for funding for a PM2.5 monitor by the end of 2021; 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

5 
LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  

Table 2.2 – Progress on Measures to Improve Air Quality 
 

Measu
re No. Measure Category Classificatio

n 

Year 
Measure 
Introduc

ed 

Estimate
d / Actual 
Completi
on Year 

Organisation
s Involved Funding Source 

Defra 
AQ 

Grant 
Fundi

ng 

Funding 
Status 

Estimated 
Cost of 

Measure 
Measure Status 

Reduction in 
Pollutant / 
Emission 

from Measure 

Key 
Performanc
e Indicator 

Progress to Date Comments / Barriers to Implementation 

1 
 
 
 

Climate 
Change 

Policy and 
Action 
Plan 

Policy 
Guidance 

and 
Developm

ent 
Control 

Low 
Emissions 
Strategy 

2020 2025 Barrow 
Borough 
Council 

Some actions 
funded through 
Cumbria LEP 

and ESIF, listed 
separately as  
Low Carbon 

Barrow Project 

NO Partially 
Funded 

> £10 
million 

Implementation Reduction 
in CO2 

equivalent 

Reduction 
in CO2 

equivalent 

Policy and action 
plan agreed on 16th 
June 2020, quarterly 

working group 
meetings to oversee 

actions  

Additional funding will be needed to 
implement some measures. See: 

https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/reside
nts/public-protection-

services/environmental-
protection/climate-change/ The Low 
Carbon Barrow project is the initial 

focus for funding.  
2 

 
 
 

Low 
Carbon 
Barrow 

Other Other 2020 2023 Barrow 
Borough 
Council / 
Art Gene 

European 
Structural and 

Investment Fund 
/ Local 

Enterprise 
Partnership 

NO Funded £1 million - 
£10 million 

Implementation More 
electric 
vehicles 

should lead 
to a 

reduction in 
NO2  

Reduction 
in CO2 

equivalent 

Projects ongoing, 
new engagement 
officer hired early 

2022 to promote low 
carbon alternatives - 
based at Art Gene 

The project includes: Carbon 
Neutral Piel Island, Electric Vehicle 
charging stations, Public buildings 
energy efficiency projects, Barrow 

Public Housing Improvement 
Scheme, Barrow home and 

business exemplar projects and 
Grant Programme, and a public 

engagement programme. 
3 Zero 

Carbon 
Cumbria 

Partnershi
p project  

Other Other 2020 2026 Over 80 
organisatio
ns across 
Cumbria 

inc. district 
councils. 
Cumbria 
County 

Council and 
Cumbria 
Action for 

Sustainabili
ty chair the 

group  

National lottery 
funding 

NO Funded £1 million - 
£10 million 

Implementation Reduction 
in CO2 

equivalents 

Reduction 
in CO2 

equivalent
s 

Citizens Jury now 
completed in Barrow 

area 

Programme includes citizens juries, 
low carbon food, repair cafes. See: 

https://cafs.org.uk/our-
projects/zero-carbon-cumbria-

programme/ 

4 Promoting 
electric 
vehicle 

chargepoi
nts  

Promoting 
Low 

Emission 
Transport 

Procuring 
alternative 
Refuelling 
infrastruct

ure to 
promote 

Low 
Emission 
Vehicles, 

EV 
recharging
, Gas fuel 
recharging 

2020 2022 Barrow 
Borough 
Council / 
Cumbria 
County 
Council 

European 
Structural and 

Investment Fund 
/ Local 

Enterprise 
Partnership 

NO Funded £100k - 
£500k 

Implementation More 
electric 
vehicles 

should lead 
to a 

reduction in 
NO2  

Number of 
EV 

charging 
points 

installed / 
Charging 

point 
usage 

18 EV chargepoints 
now installed in 
council owned 

carparks 

 

P
age 30

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

6 
LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  

5 Replacing 
fleet 

vehicles 
with 

electric 
vehicles 

Promoting 
Low 

Emission 
Transport 

Company 
Vehicle 

Procurem
ent -

Prioritising 
uptake of 

low 
emission 
vehicles 

2020 2022 Barrow 
Borough 
Council 

European 
Structural and 

Investment Fund 
/ Local 

Enterprise 
Partnership 

NO Funded £100k - 
£500k 

Implementation More 
electric 
vehicles 

should lead 
to a 

reduction in 
NO2  

Amount of 
electric 
vehicles 

and 
charging 
infrastruct

ure 

Vehicles have been 
ordered, due to arrive 

mid 2022 

 

6 Barrow 
Local 

Cycling 
and 

Walking 
Infrastruct
ure Plan 
(LCWIP) 

Transport 
Planning 

and 
Infrastruct

ure 

Cycle 
network 

2020 2023 Cumbria 
County 

Council / 
Barrow 

Borough 
Council 

Active Travel 
fund and Towns 

Deal 

NO Partially 
Funded 

> £10 
million 

Planning Cycling and 
walking 

produces 
no NO2 

emissions 

Increased 
cycling 

and 
walking 
rates 

First phase of 
improvements started 

early 2022 - 
Michaelson Bridge 
and Ferry Road. 

Abbey Road, Roose Road and 
Town Centre improvements are 

expected to begin in 2023. Further 
improvements not yet funded. 

7 Furness 
Climate 
Change 
Citizens 

Jury 

Public 
Informatio

n 

Via the 
Internet 

2021 2022 Barrow 
Borough 
Council / 

ZCCP 

Part National 
lottery funded & 
Part Barrow BC 

funded 

NO Funded £10k - 50k Completed Increased 
walking and 

cycling 
should lead 
to reduced 

NO2 
emissions 

N/A Citizens Jury 
recommendations 
published in March 

2022, includes 
recommendations 
around sustainable 

transport  

Recommendations can help inform 
policy but Local Government 

Reorganisation means that Barrow 
is only 1/3 of new council footprint, 

so potentially less influence. 

                

P
age 31

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

7 
LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  

2.3 PM2.5 – Local Authority Approach to Reducing 
Emissions and/or Concentrations 

As detailed in Policy Guidance LAQM.PG16 (Chapter 7), local authorities are 

expected to work towards reducing emissions and/or concentrations of PM2.5 

(particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm or less). There is clear 

evidence that PM2.5 has a significant impact on human health, including premature 

mortality, allergic reactions, and cardiovascular diseases.  

Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council is taking the following measures to address 

PM2.5:  

1. Upgrades to Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure in partnership with 

Cumbria County Council; 

2. Seeking funding to monitor PM2.5 

 

Page 32

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

8 
LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  

3 Air Quality Monitoring Data and Comparison 
with Air Quality Objectives and National Compliance 
 
This section sets out the monitoring undertaken within 2021 by Barrow-in-Furness 

Borough Council and how it compares with the relevant air quality objectives. In 

addition, monitoring results are presented for a five-year period between 2017 and 

2021 to allow monitoring trends to be identified and discussed. 

3.1 Summary of Monitoring Undertaken 
3.1.1 Automatic Monitoring Sites 

No automatic air quality monitoring is carried out by Barrow-in-Furness Borough 

Council. 

3.1.2 Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites 

Barrow-In-Furness Borough Council undertook non- automatic (passive) monitoring 

of NO2 at seven (7) sites during 2021. Table A.2 in Appendix A shows the details of 

these sites. 

Maps showing the location of the monitoring sites are provided in Appendix D. 

Further details on Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC) for the diffusion tubes, 

including bias adjustments and any other adjustments applied (e.g. annualisation 

and/or distance correction), are included in Appendix C. 

3.2 Individual Pollutants 
The air quality monitoring results presented in this section are, where relevant, 

adjusted for bias, annualisation (where the annual mean data capture is below 75% 

and greater than 25%), and distance correction. Further details on adjustments are 

provided in Appendix C. 

3.2.1 Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) 

Table A.3 in Appendix A compares the ratified and adjusted monitored NO2 annual 

mean concentrations for the past five years with the air quality objective of 40µg/m3. 

Note that the concentration data presented represents the concentration at the 

location of the monitoring site, following the application of bias adjustment and 

Page 33

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

9 
LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  

annualisation, as required (i.e. the values are exclusive of any consideration to fall-off 

with distance adjustment). 

For diffusion tubes, the full 2021 season dataset of monthly mean values is provided 

in Appendix B. Note that the concentration data presented in Table B.1 includes 

distance corrected values, only where relevant. 

The measured annual mean concentrations in 2021 for NO2 indicate that the 

objective of 40µg/m3 was not exceeded at any of the monitoring locations in the 

Borough. The 2021 monitoring campaign for of NO2 at Lindal In Furness has resulted 

in an increased annual mean of 24.0 µg/m3 after it decreased significantly to 22.0 

µg/m3 in 2020 from 33.0 µg/m3 in 2019 and 34.6 µg/m3 in 2018. This can only be 

attributed to vehicle restrictions during the COVID-19 lockdowns as well as a shift to 

working from home caused by the same in 2020 and 2021. 

Barrow is the second largest settlement in Cumbria and is situated at the tip of the 

Furness Peninsula in the south west corner of Cumbria. Surrounded by a rural 

hinterland, the Borough is remote from other centres of population and services, and 

the sole link to the motorway network is via the A590. At 78km2, the Borough is the 

smallest area of any district in Cumbria, yet is the most densely populated. 

In 2021 the school diffusion tubes remained in place to try and get an accurate 

representation of levels outside schools. The tube outside the medical centre at Duke 

St (ALF1) was removed and a new tube placed at Ireleth Road (IRE1) at a busy 

junction in a residential area by the train station. 

 

Page 34

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

10 
LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  

Figure A.2: Trends in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations measured at 

Diffusion Tube Background Site (Dowdales School 1993-2021 [Bias Adjusted]) 

 

Figure A.3: Trends in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations measured at 

Diffusion Tube Background Site (Dowdales School 2012-2021 [Bias Adjusted]) 

 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

11 
LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  

 

Figure A.4: Trends in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations measured at 

Diffusion Tube Roadside Site (Lindal in Furness 2012-2021 [Bias Adjusted]) 

 

Background monitoring at the only location remaining from the original monitoring 

programme is shown in Figure A.2 (Dowdales School) and Figure A.3 for the 10 year 

trend. Both graphs indicates a decreasing trend in annual mean background NO2 

concentrations in the Borough. Figure A.4 shows the 10 year trend at the Lindal in 

Furness Roadside site, showing only a slight decrease over the long term, with 2020 

and 2021 much lower than the previous years due to Covid-19.  

The other sites monitored in 2021 had been monitored for less than 5 years so trends 

have not been mapped for those sites. 

3.2.2 Particulate Matter (PM10) 

There is no monitoring of PM10 concentrations carried out by Barrow-in-Furness 

Borough Council. 

3.2.3 Particulate Matter (PM2.5) 

There is no monitoring of PM2.5 concentrations carried out by Barrow-in-Furness 

Borough Council. 

Page 36

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

12 
LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  

3.2.4 Sulphur Dioxide (SO2) 

There is no automatic or non-automatic monitoring of SO2 concentrations carried out 

by Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council. 

Page 37

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022         13 

Appendix A: Monitoring Results 
 

Table A.2 – Details of Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites 
Diffusion 
Tube ID 

Site Name Site Type X OS Grid 
Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 
(Northing) 

Pollutants 
Monitored 

In 
AQMA? 
Which 
AQMA? 

Distance to 
Relevant 
Exposure (m) 
(1) 

Distance to 
kerb of nearest 
road (m) (2) 

Tube Co-located 
with a 
Continuous 
Analyser? 

Tube Height 
(m) 

LIND1 Lindal Roadside 325229 475856 NO2 N/A 0 2.0 No 3.0 

BKGD1 Dowdales 
School 

Urban 
Backgroun
d 

322732 474429 NO2 N/A N/A 150.0 No 3.0 

GRN2 Greengate 
Street 

Roadside 320290 469196 NO2 N/A 0 2.0 No 3.0 

RAMS1 Ramsden 
Infants 

Roadside 320157 469585 NO2 N/A 0 2.0 No 3.0 

FURN1 Furness 
Academy 

Kerbside 320853 469737 NO2 N/A 0 0.0 No 3.0 

PIUS1 St Pius 
School 

Kerbside 319490 471373 NO2 N/A 0 0.7 No 3.0 

IRE1 Ireleth 
Road 

Roadside 321563 477675 NO2 N/A 0 2.0 No 3.0 

Notes: 
(1) 0m if the monitoring site is at a location of exposure (e.g. installed on the façade of a residential property). 
(2) N/A if not applicable 

 

P
age 38

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022         14 

 

Table A.3 – Annual Mean NO2 Monitoring Results: Non-Automatic Monitoring (µg/m3) 

Site ID 
X OS Grid 

Ref 
(Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 
Site Type Monitoring 

Type 

Valid Data 
Capture for 
Monitoring 

Period (%) (1) 

Valid Data 
Capture 

2021 (%) (2) 

NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m3) (3) (4) 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

LIND 1 325229 475856 Roadside Diffusion 
Tube 100 100 33.15 34.58 33.0 22.0 24.0 

BKGD 1 322732 474429 Urban 
Background 

Diffusion 
Tube 100 100 8.66 8.45 7.59 5.5 6.0 

GRN2 320290 469196 Roadside Diffusion 
Tube 92 92 N/A N/A N/A 16.3 17.4 

RAMS1 320157 469585 Roadside Diffusion 
Tube 100 100 N/A N/A N/A 10.5 10.5 

FURN1 320853 469737 Kerbside Diffusion 
Tube 75 75 N/A N/A N/A 11.5 11.7 

PIUS1 319490 471373 Kerbside Diffusion 
Tube 100 100 N/A N/A N/A 11.1 11.0 

IRE1 321563 477675 Roadside Diffusion 
Tube 75 75 N/A N/A N/A 10.9 11.6 

            
            
            
            

 
✓ Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% and >25% in line with LAQM.TG16  
✓ Diffusion tube data has been bias adjusted  
 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022         15 

✓ Reported concentrations are those at the location of the monitoring site (annualised, as required), i.e. prior to any fall-off with distance correction  
 
Notes:  
The annual mean concentrations are presented as µg/m3. 
Exceedances of the NO2 annual mean objective of 40µg/m3 are shown in bold. 
NO2 annual means exceeding 60µg/m3, indicating a potential exceedance of the NO2 1-hour mean objective are shown in bold and underlined. 
Means for diffusion tubes have been corrected for bias. All means have been “annualised” as per LAQM.TG16 if valid data capture for the full calendar year is less 

than 75%. See Appendix C for details. 
Concentrations are those at the location of monitoring and not those following any fall-off with distance adjustment. 
(1) Data capture for the monitoring period, in cases where monitoring was only carried out for part of the year. 
(2) Data capture for the full calendar year (e.g. if monitoring was carried out for 6 months, the maximum data capture for the full calendar year is 50%). 

 

P
age 40

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022         16 

Appendix B: Full Monthly Diffusion Tube Results for 2021 
Table B.1 – NO2 Monthly Diffusion Tube Results - 2021 

Site 
ID 

X OS Grid 
Ref (Easting) 

Y OS Grid 
Ref 

(Northing) 

NO2 Mean Concentrations (µg/m3) 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Annual Mean 

Raw 
Data 

Bias 
Adjusted 
(0.84) and 

Annualised 
(1) 

Distance 
Corrected 

to 
Nearest 

Exposure 
(2) 

LIND1 325229 475856 32.2 34.5 28.8 31.7 25.5 26.7 26.5 28.2 33.8 25.1 31.1 32.0 29.7 24.0 - 

BKGD1 322732 474429 11.2 10.7 7.1 5.9 4.3 4.2 5.4 5.1 6.8 8.3 10.3 10.2 7.5 6.0 - 

GRN2 320290 469196  21.4 23.2 22.2 18.5 15.9 18.9 17.9 18.9 23.3 32.0 24.5 21.5 17.4 - 

RAMS1 320157 469585 17.2 15.9 12.5 12.8 10.1 7.9 10.3 8.6 10.4 12.5 20.0 16.8 12.9 10.5 - 

FURN1 320853 469737    13.9 13.5 12.1 12.6 12.1 15.5 17.1 18.8 14.3 14.4 11.7 - 

PIUS1 319490 471373 17.7 19.2 14.3 14.3 2.0 10.9 10.5 10.0 14.2 13.2 19.3 17.0 13.6 11.0 - 

IRE1 321563 477675   13.9 14.0 14.0 12.2  11.5 17.4 14.4 15.2 16.4 14.3 11.6 - 

✓All erroneous data has been removed from the NO2 diffusion tube dataset presented in Table B.1 
✓Annualisation has been conducted where data capture is <75% and >25% in line with LAQM.TG16 
  Local bias adjustment factor used  
✓National bias adjustment factor used  

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022         17 

  
✓Where applicable, data has been distance corrected for relevant exposure in the final column 
✓Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council confirm that all 2021 diffusion tube data has been uploaded to the Diffusion Tube Data Entry System  

 

P
age 42

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  18 

Appendix C: Supporting Technical Information / Air 
Quality Monitoring Data QA/QC 
 

New or Changed Sources Identified Within the Borough of 
Barrow-in-Furness During 2021 

Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council has not identified any new sources relating to air 

quality within the reporting year of 2021. 

 

Additional Air Quality Works Undertaken by Barrow-in-
Furness Borough Council During 2021 

Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council has not completed any additional works within 

the reporting year of 2021. 

QA/QC of Diffusion Tube Monitoring 

The laboratory supplying and analysing the nitrogen dioxide diffusion tubes is Gradko 

Environmental Ltd. The preparation method used by the laboratory is 20% TEA 

/Water, analyses are carried out using UV spectrophotometry. 

QA/QC of diffusion tube monitoring 

• Tube Precision 
The precision results for Gradko Environmental (A division of Gradko 
International Ltd.) are stated as GOOD on the following website:  
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/diffusion-tubes/precision.html  

• WASP Results 
 Information obtained from Gradko Environmental states the laboratory has 

taken part in the WASP proficiency scheme since it’s inception, and has 
maintained the highest ranking of ‘Satisfactory’.  See Table Below for 
more information. 

 
Table 1: Laboratory AIR-PT Round Results & Gradko NO2 Proficiency Scheme 2021 

Page 43

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/diffusion-tubes/precision.html


Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  19 

 
For more information the AIR-PT scheme, please visit the following website:  

 https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/diffusion-tubes/qa-qc-framework.html. 

Adherence with the 2021 Diffusion Tube Monitoring Calendar 

Monitoring has been completed in adherence with the 2021 Diffusion Tube Monitoring 

Calendar. 

Diffusion Tube Annualisation 

All diffusion tube monitoring locations within Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council recorded 

data capture of 75% therefore it was not required to annualise any monitoring data.  

Diffusion Tube Bias Adjustment Factors 

The diffusion tube data presented within the 2021 ASR have been corrected for bias using 

an adjustment factor. Bias represents the overall tendency of the diffusion tubes to under or 

over-read relative to the reference chemiluminescence analyser. LAQM.TG16 provides 

guidance with regard to the application of a bias adjustment factor to correct diffusion tube 

monitoring. Triplicate co-location studies can be used to determine a local bias factor based 

on the comparison of diffusion tube results with data taken from NOx/NO2 continuous 

analysers. Alternatively, the national database of diffusion tube co-location surveys provides 

bias factors for the relevant laboratory and preparation method. 

Page 44

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/diffusion-tubes/qa-qc-framework.html


Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  20 

Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council have applied a national bias adjustment factor of 0.84 

to the 2021 monitoring data. A summary of bias adjustment factors used by Barrow-in-

Furness Borough Council over the past five years is presented in Table C.1. 

The factor was obtained from the Review and Assessment website: 

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/bias-adjustment-factors/national-bias.html The spreadsheet 

version number is 06/22. 

Table C.1 – Bias Adjustment Factor 

Monitoring Year Local or National If National, Version of 
National Spreadsheet Adjustment Factor 

2021 National 06/22 0.84 
2020 National 03/21 0.81 
2019 National 03/20 0.93 
2018 National 03/19 0.93 
2017 National 03/18 0.89 

 

NO2 Fall-off with Distance from the Road 

No diffusion tube NO2 monitoring locations within Barrow-in-Furness Borough 

Council required distance correction during 2021. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  21 

Appendix D: Map(s) of Monitoring Locations 
 

Lindal (LIND 1) – Ulverston Road: 

 
Dowdales School (BKGD1) – Background: 

 
Greengate Street (GRN2): 

 

Page 46

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  22 

Ramsden Infants (RAMS1): 

 
St Pius School (PIUS1): 

 
 
Furness Academy (FURN1): 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  23 

Ireleth Road (IRE1): 

 
 
Map showing all diffusion tube locations in the Borough of Barrow-in-Furness 
 

IRE1 

Page 48

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  24 

Appendix E: Summary of Air Quality Objectives in 
England 
Table E.1 – Air Quality Objectives in England11 

Pollutant Air Quality Objective: 
Concentration 

Air Quality 
Objective: 
Measured 

as 

Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) 200µg/m3 not to be exceeded more than 18 times a 
year 1-hour mean 

Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) 40µg/m3 Annual mean 

Particulate Matter 
(PM10) 

50µg/m3, not to be exceeded more than 35 times a 
year 24-hour mean 

Particulate Matter 
(PM10) 40µg/m3 Annual mean 

Sulphur Dioxide (SO2) 350µg/m3, not to be exceeded more than 24 times a 
year 1-hour mean 

Sulphur Dioxide (SO2) 125µg/m3, not to be exceeded more than 3 times a 
year 24-hour mean 

Sulphur Dioxide (SO2) 266µg/m3, not to be exceeded more than 35 times a 
year 15-minute mean 

 
11 The units are in microgrammes of pollutant per cubic metre of air (µg/m3). 

Page 49

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  25 

Glossary of Terms 
 

Abbreviation Description 

AQAP Air Quality Action Plan - A detailed description of measures, 
outcomes, achievement dates and implementation methods, 
showing how the local authority intends to achieve air quality limit 
values’ 

AQMA Air Quality Management Area – An area where air pollutant 
concentrations exceed / are likely to exceed the relevant air quality 
objectives. AQMAs are declared for specific pollutants and 
objectives 

ASR Air quality Annual Status Report 

Defra Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

DMRB Design Manual for Roads and Bridges – Air quality screening tool 
produced by Highways England 

EU European Union 

FDMS Filter Dynamics Measurement System 

LAQM Local Air Quality Management 

NO2 Nitrogen Dioxide 

NOx Nitrogen Oxides 

PM10 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10µm 
(micrometres or microns) or less 

PM2.5 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm 
or less 

QA/QC Quality Assurance and Quality Control 

SO2 Sulphur Dioxide 

 

Page 50

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

LAQM Annual Status Report 2022  26 

References 
 

EPUK Guidance: Development Control-Planning for Air Quality (2010) 
Air Quality Annual Status Report (ASR) 2018 

Diffusion Tubes for Ambient Monitoring: Practical Guidance, 2008 (AEA Energy & 

Environment) 

Environmental equity, air quality, socioeconomic status and respiratory health, 

2010 (Wheeler BW, Ben-Shlomo Y) 

AEA Technology. Air quality and social deprivation in the UK: an environmental 

inequalities analysis, 2006 

Defra. Abatement cost guidance for valuing changes in air quality, May 2013 

Public Health England. Estimating Local Mortality Burdens Associated with 

Particulate Air Pollution, 2014 

Public Health Outcomes Framework – Public Health England (updated quarterly) 

Defra. LAQM TG16, February 2018 

 
 

 
 

 

Page 51

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee 

Wednesday, 14 September 2022 

ECO4 LA Flex Statement of Intent 

 
 

Report from:   Director of People and Place 

Report Author:  Chris Jones 

Wards:    (All Wards); 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions  

1.1 Members are given an update on the ECO/ECO LA Flex schemes and asked to 

approve the proposed ECO4 LA Flex Statement of Intent. 

 

2.0  Recommendation  

2.1 It is recommended that Executive Committee:-  

 

Approves the ECO4 LA Flex Statement of Intent attached as Appendix 1. 

 

3.0 Background and Proposals  

3.1 The Energy Company Obligation (ECO) scheme has been in operation since 

2013. ECO puts an obligation on energy suppliers over a certain size to install 

insulation and heating measures to alleviate fuel poverty. 

 

3.2 ECO is overseen by the energy regulator, Ofgem, on behalf of the relevant 

government department, currently BEIS. The scheme rules have changed from 

time to time, and with effect from 1 July 2022, the fourth phase of ECO (ECO4) 

commenced. 

 

3.3 ECO is split into two parts. Customers can qualify for the main ECO scheme if they 

live in energy inefficient housing and are in receipt of certain means tested 

benefits. However, since 2017, suppliers can meet a proportion of their obligations 

(50% for ECO4), by installing measures for households that meet broader fuel 

poverty and vulnerability criteria set out in a Local Authority Statement of Intent 

(SoI). This is known as Local Authority Flexible Eligibility (LA Flex). 

 

3.4 To demonstrate qualification for LA Flex, the local authority has to issue a 

declaration to the supplier or installer to certify that the household qualifies. 

Page 53

Agenda Item 10



 

3.5 Barrow Borough Council adopted a SoI for the previous iteration of ECO (ECO3). 

In 2021/22 the Council issued almost 140 declarations to allow households to have 

measures installed. These are mainly new heating systems and the installation of 

insulation. 

 

3.6 New guidance on the requirements of the SoI for ECO4 has been issued, and it is 

proposed that this is adopted for Barrow Borough Council. The proposed SoI is 

attached as Appendix 1. 

 

4.0 Consultation  

4.1 No consultation has been carried out as there is little scope for varying the 

standard template SoI. 

 

5.0  Alternative Options  

5.1 The alternative option of not adopting the SoI would mean that residents of the 

Borough would have no ongoing access to the LA Flex scheme. 

 

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

6.1 Priority 2: Place – Creating a vibrant, safe and welcoming place where people 

want to live 

 Outcome: Our Borough has a diverse housing offer, where everyone can expect 

a decent home they can afford to live in. 

 

7.0 Implications  

7.1 Financial, Resources and Procurement  

7.1.1 There are no financial or procurement implications as we do not procure for the 

improvements paid for by the ECO scheme. These are paid for by the responsible 

energy providers and the contract is between the installer and the customer. 

Potential customers are identified by the installers. There are limited staffing 

resource implications in dealing with queries from installers and customers and in 

processing the declarations. However, the resource demand is not likely to 

increase compared with 2021/22 

 

7.2 Legal  

7.2.1 There are no legal implications 

 

7.3 Local Government Reorganisation 

7.3.1 Eden District Council has adopted the model SoI, and South Lakeland District 

Council have confirmed that they also intend to do so. The SoI policy across 

Westmorland and Furness will therefore be consistent on vesting day. 

 

 

 

 

Page 54

Agenda Item 10



7.4   Equality and Diversity 
  

7.4.1 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes. No adverse implications 
are identified, and positive implications for the protected characteristics of race, 
sex, age, disability and socio-economic disadvantage are identified. 

 
Risk 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Excessive requests for 

declarations are received. 

Delay in issuing 

declarations and delays 

in installation of 

measures 

Ensure that adequate 

resources are allocated. 

This is considered a low 

risk. 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

   

 

Contact Officers  

Name, email address 

 

Appendices Attached to this Report – If none, please state none or delete section 

Appendix No.  Name of Appendix  

1  Statement of Intent 

 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document  Where it is available  

1 Ofgem guidance 

2 

https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications/eco4-

guidance-local-authority-administration  

  

  

Page 55

Agenda Item 10

https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications/eco4-guidance-local-authority-administration
https://www.ofgem.gov.uk/publications/eco4-guidance-local-authority-administration


Statement of Intent for ECO4 

 

Barrow Borough Council ECO4 Flexible Eligibility Statement of Intent 

Local Authority name: Barrow Borough Council 

Publication Date: 14/09/2022 

Version number: V.1.0 

Publication on web site: www.barrowbc.gov.uk 

 

This statement sets out Barrow Borough Council’s flexible eligibility criteria for the Energy 

Company Obligation (ECO4) scheme from April 2022 – March 2026.  

The ECO4 scheme will focus on supporting low income and vulnerable households. The scheme 
will improve the least energy efficient homes helping to meet the Government’s fuel poverty and 
net zero commitments. 

The flexible approach for Local Authorities (LAs) to identifying fuel poor and vulnerable 
households who may benefit from heating and energy saving measures is referred to as “ECO4 
Flex”.  

The Council welcomes the introduction of the ECO4 Flex eligibility routes as it helps the Council 

achieve its plans to improve the homes of those in fuel poverty or vulnerable to the cold. 

The Council is publishing this Statement of Intent (SoI), on the 14/09/2022 to confirm that each 

of the households declared will adhere to at least one of the four available routes outlined below: 

 

Route 1: SAP bands D-G households with an income less than £31,000. This cap applies 

irrespective of the property size, composition, or region. 

 

Route 2: SAP bands E-G households that meet a combination of two of the following proxies: 

 

Proxy 1) Homes in England in Lower-layer Super Output Area 1-3 (LSOA)1, or homes in 

Welsh provision LSOA 1-3 on the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 20192, or the 

Index of Multiple Deprivation for 2020, published by the Scottish Government3 

Proxy 2) Householders receiving a Council Tax rebate (rebates based on low income only, 

excludes single person rebates). 

Proxy 3) Householders vulnerable to living in a cold home as identified in the National 

Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) Guidance. Only one from the list can 

be used, excludes the proxy ‘low income’. 

Proxy 4) A householder receiving free school meals due to low-income. 

                                                
1 The English Indices of Deprivation 2019 (publishing.service.gov.uk) 
2 Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (full Index update with ranks): 2019 | GOV.WALES 
3 Scottish Index of Multiple Deprivation 2020 - gov.scot (www.gov.scot) 

Page 56

Agenda Item 10

http://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/835115/IoD2019_Statistical_Release.pdf
https://gov.wales/welsh-index-multiple-deprivation-full-index-update-ranks-2019
https://www.gov.scot/collections/scottish-index-of-multiple-deprivation-2020/


Proxy 5) A householder supported by a LA run scheme, that has been named and described 

by the LA as supporting low income and vulnerable households for the purposes of 

NICE Guideline. 

Proxy 6) A household referred to the LA for support by their energy supplier or Citizen's 

Advice or Citizen’s Advice Scotland, because they have been identified as struggling 

to pay their electricity and gas bills.  

* Note proxies 1 and 5 cannot be used together. 

 

Route 3: SAP bands D-G households that have been identified by their doctor or GP as low-

income and vulnerable, with an occupant whose health conditions may be impacted 

further by living in a cold home. These health conditions may be cardiovascular, 

respiratory, immunosuppressed, or limited mobility related. 

 

This is because the Council has identified a positive correlation between households who 

suffer from long-term health conditions and living off a low-income, with living in poorly 

insulated homes. 

 

Route 4: SAP band D-G households that are referred under Route 4: Bespoke Targeting. 

Suppliers and LAs can submit an application to BEIS where they have identified a low 

income and vulnerable household, who are not already eligible under the exiting routes. 

  

Page 57

Agenda Item 10



Declaration and evidence check confirmation 

 

All potentially eligible households should apply through Barrow Borough Council or one of their 

approved ECO installers to ensure that they can either benefit from the scheme or be assessed 

for eligibility under any other relevant programme. 

The officer below will be responsible for checking and verifying declarations and associated 

evidence submitted on behalf of the local authority: 

 

Name: Chris Jones 

Job Title: Head of Programme Management and Climate Change 

Telephone: 01229 876543 

Email: cwjones@barrowbc.gov.uk  

 

 

CEO or dedicated responsible person mandatory signature 

 

The Barrow Borough Council will administer the scheme according to BEIS’ ECO4 Order and will 

identify eligible households via Ofgem’s application process. The CEO of the Council will oversee 

the process of identifying eligible households under ECO4 Flex. 

The eligibility information will be stored securely in line with the Council’s data protection policy, 

Information Commissioner’s Office Data Sharing Code, and BEIS guidance. 

 

Signature:  

Name: Sam Plum 

Job Title: CEO/ dedicated responsible person 

Date of signature: 14/09/2022 

 

For any general enquires relating to this SoI, please contact privatehousing@barrowbc.gov.uk  

 

Page 58

Agenda Item 10

mailto:privatehousing@barrowbc.gov.uk


PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee  

14 September 2022 

2021-2022 Outturn 
 

   

Report from:   Director of Resources 

Report Author:  Director of Resources 

Wards:    None 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions  

1.1  This report presents a summary of the 2021-2022 outturn for revenue, capital, 

treasury management and the collection fund. 

 

2.0  Recommendation  

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive Committee:-  

 
1. Note the financial outturn for 2021-2022; 
2. Approve the movements in reserves;  
3. Receive the Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement; and 
4. Note the amounts written off after recovery action had taken place. 

 

3.0 Background and Proposals  

3.1 Corporate Aims 

 

3.1.1 The Council delivers services to people who live in, work in and visit the Borough.  

The Council has an overarching Council Plan which sets the focus for the priorities 

and direction for the use of the available resources.  This has been enhanced with 

the Growing Forward report which contains the response to the COVID-19 

pandemic and is intended to capture the benefits and opportunities that the 

experience has identified to improve services and the ways that the Council Plan 

impacts can be achieved with the most positive effects.  

 

3.1.2 Progress against the Council Plan and Growing Forward was last presented to this 

Committee on the 25 May 2022. 

 

3.1.3 In order to effectively implement corporate priorities and meet legal obligations, 

the Council must maintain a financially stable position, be able to demonstrate 

value for money, good governance, transparency and must establish values and 

behaviours. 

Page 59

Agenda Item 11



 

3.2 Impacts of COVID-19 

 

3.2.1 The COVID-19 related responsibilities continued through 2021-2022 including the 

distribution of funds, award of reliefs, track and trace and other public health 

duties. 

 

3.2.2 In financial terms there were additional costs incurred and income from services 

was significantly impacted along with Council Tax and Business Rates. 

 

3.2.3 The Government provided funding for COVID-19 additional costs, new burdens 

and income losses for the Council to retain, and specific funds for distribution.  The 

allocations of specific funds for distribution were on-account payments based on 

the best basis that Government could use; for business support grants the 

Valuation Office rating list was used.  The rating list includes hereditaments 

(properties) that are used in personal use and others that are not used for the 

purpose recorded in the rating list (for example an office operating from premises 

recorded as a shop on the rating list). 

 

3.2.4 The COVID-19 Government grants distributed as mandatory schemes are referred 

to as agency transactions that do not appear in the Statement of Accounts: 

 

 
 

3.2.5 The amounts at 31 March 2022 are the difference between the on-account 

estimate received from government and the amounts distributed; as noted in 

previous COVID-19 grant reports, the on-account estimate is based on the 

Valuation Office listing and includes hereditaments not used for business purposes 

and empty properties. 

 

 

Page 60

Agenda Item 11



 

 

3.2.6 The grants distributed as discretionary schemes are referred to as principal 

transactions and appear in the Statement of Accounts: 

 

 
 

3.2.7 In terms of the COVID-19 funding received for direct additional expenditure and 

income losses, all of the grants are recognised in the General Fund but those 

relating to the Collection Fund are carried forward and released to match the 

deficits when charged.   

 

3.2.8 The funding received for direct COVID-19 impacts are shown in the following table 

and the balance of unspent funding at 31 March 2022 is held on the Balance Sheet 

within receipts in advance: 

 

 
 

3.2.9 The allocation of those sums against services is split between the divisions and 

subjective headings as follows: 

 

 
 

3.2.10 The direct additional costs and income losses have been covered by the grants 

received; there has been no requirement to call on the Council’s financial reserves 

as a result.  

 

 

Grant Stream
 At 1 April 

2021 

 Received 

2021/22 

 Allocated 

2021/22 

 At 31 March 

2022 

 £000  £000  £000  £000 

Tax Income Guarantee Scheme               751                 26               631               146 

Contain Outbreak Management Fund               198               125                 88               235 

Emergency Funding                  -                 486               486                  -   

Local Council Tax Support Scheme                  -                 119               119                  -   

Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation                  -                 101               101                  -   

New Burdens                  -                 131               131                  -   

              949               988             1,556               381 

 Division 
 Employee 

Costs 

 Supplies & 

Services 

 Contracted 

Services 

 External 

Income 
 Total 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

 Resources                -                137                -                  -                137 

 Community Services                -                  -                128              333              461 

 Regeneration and the built environment                -                  -                  -                  -                  -   

 Central Services               39               38                -                  -                 77 

 Other income and expenditure                -                  -                  -                881              881 

              39              175              128           1,214           1,556 

Page 61

Agenda Item 11



3.3 Service Performance 

 

3.3.1 In 2021-2022 the Council was able to utilise all resources (financial and non-

financial) to deliver the services it provides. 

 

3.3.2 This non-financial performance together with the delivery of the routine services 

within the approved budget means that the Council has delivered the outcomes 

and value planned when the budget was set in line with the Council Plan priorities. 

 

3.3.3 The Council uses service performance indicators to provide an overview of 

operations.  Where there is no national or contracted performance level or target, 

local targets are set which consider recent years’ outturn, known constraints, and 

desired improvements. 

 

3.3.4 The Council’s product is the services it delivers and that is provided by the officers 

employed.  During 2021-2022 there was a high level of staff turnover and long-

term vacancies, plus the ongoing COVID-19 workload primarily managed by the 

Revenues and Benefits Service.  The reduction in resources has impacted service 

performance for the year. 

 

Description 2021/22 Target or 2020/21 

Planning decisions determined within set timescale:     

         major applications 73.68%  Target; 60% 

         other applications 74.26%  Target; 70% 

Food safety inspections See below  2020/21; 260 

Forum theatre attendance  23,742 2020/21; 3,222 

Number of disabled facilities grants awarded 104  2020/21; 99 

Playground maintenance inspections 100%  Target; 100% 

Waste containers delivered within 7 working days  73%  Target; 100% 

Assisted list waste collections missed 0.11%  Target; 0% 

Fly tips collected within 1 working day of being reported 67%  Target; 100% 

Percentage of missed waste or recycling collections 4.53%  Target; 0% 

Percentage of household waste sent for recycling TBC  2020/21; 24.05% 

Corporate complaints dealt with within timescale 64%  Target; 90% 

Average time to process new housing benefit claims 30 Days  2020/21; 25 Days 

Average time to process housing benefit claims changes 5 Days  2020/21; 4 Days 

Council tax collected 95.35%  2020/21; 95.26% 

Business rates collected 97.94%  2020/21; 97.87% 

Long term sickness averaged per employee 9.15 Days  2020/21; 6.88 Days 

Short term sickness averaged per employee 2.40 Days  2020/21; 1.08 Days 

 

3.3.5 Food safety inspections: in accordance with the Food Standards Agency recovery 

plan all ‘A’ rated premises received an on-site intervention, in addition 7 out of 10 

‘B’ rated premises received an on-site intervention, along with 29 ‘C’ rated, 29 ‘D’ 

rated and 51 ‘E’ rated premises receiving an intervention. 

Page 62

Agenda Item 11



 

3.4 The Financial Headlines 

 

3.4.1 The headlines of this year’s accounts are set out below: 

 

 The General Fund has made a net withdrawal from reserves of £3.617m, 

£3.963m was used for the impacts of COVID-19 related to the Collection Fund 

deficits with the balance of £346k being the net of all other movements; 

 The Housing Revenue Account is balanced with a net contribution to reserves 

of £0.65m; 

 The Council’s own share of the Collection Fund for 2021-2022 is a deficit of 

£39k for Council Tax and a deficit of £1.88m for Business Rates; 

 The Council’s net worth (Balance Sheet) has increased from £124m to 

£124.8m; 

 Usable reserves have remained at £32.8m; 

 Capital investment of £5.335m was delivered through the capital programme 

funded by grants, receipts and reserves. 

 

3.5 Net Assets of the Authority 

 

3.5.1 The Council has net assets of £124.8m - the difference between its assets and 

liabilities.  This shows the cash balance that would have been left if the Council 

was to have realised its assets at carrying value (selling its land and buildings and 

other assets) and settled its liabilities (paid its creditors and repaid its borrowing). 

 

3.5.2 The increase in the net assets of the authority of £0.8m is attributable to: 

 

 -£9.5m decrease in the value of tangible fixed assets; 

 +£7m change in the value of other long term pension liabilities; 

 +£10m increase in short term investments and cash; 

 +£1m decrease in long term borrowing; 

 -£7.7m change in debtors and creditors. 

 

3.6 General Fund Outturn 

 

3.6.1 The General Fund budget for 2021-2022 was originally approved by Full Council 

on the 25 February 2021 as £7.24m.  The estimated movement in reserves for 

2021-2022 was a reduction of £3.79m at the time the budget was set. 

 

3.6.2 The actual outturn for 2021-2022 had no impact on the General Fund 

balance.  The outturn before movements in earmarked reserves was £3.617m, 

with the £3.617m withdrawn from reserves. 

 

3.6.3 A net £4.13m of reserves were used as planned and in accordance with matters 

reported to the Executive Committee for 2021-2022 and year-end transactions. 

 

Page 63

Agenda Item 11



3.6.4 An unplanned £0.513m was added to reserves as the net of service expenditure 

and income for 2021-2022; this has been set aside to mitigate the energy market 

price pressures of 2022-2023. 

 

3.6.5 Recurring savings and reductions are taken into account when setting the budget 

for future years and for review in the current year 2022-2023.  The 2022-2023 

General Fund budget was prepared in December 2021 and has incorporated some 

of the savings and reductions identified as part of the outturn comparison.   

 

3.6.6 The bulk of the underspend of 2021-2022 comes as a result of staff turnover and 

work to populate the core establishment is progressing in 2022-2023; the 

establishment budget has not been reduced as the staffing levels are to be 

maintenance. 

 

3.6.7 The following table identifies the net of under and over spends by division. 

 

 
 

3.6.8 A note of the significant items over £10k is set out in Appendix 1. 

 

3.7 Housing Revenue Account Outturn 

 

3.7.1 The original Housing Revenue Account budget was approved by Full Council on 

the 25 February 2021 as a balanced budget; the income matching the expenditure 

forecast including a contribution to reserves of £83k. 

 

3.7.2 The actual outturn for the Housing Revenue Account resulted in a balanced 

account after a contribution to reserves of £650k; £567km more than originally 

estimated. 

 

3.7.3 The funds reserved relate to maintenance and repairs £151k, £11k from additional 

income, reduced bad debt provision requirement £84k, and £404k reduced costs. 

 

3.8 Revenue Reserves and Balances 

 

3.8.1 The Council held the following General Fund financial reserves during 2021/22: 

 

Page 64

Agenda Item 11



 
 

3.8.2 The movements in General Fund reserves for 2021-2022 are shown in Appendix 

2. 

 

3.8.3 The commitments and specific purposes that the reserves are set aside for is 

shown in Appendix 3; this is the result of a review of reserves at 31 March 2022 

considering the known requirements and establishing the funds for the waste 

service transition and operation in 2022-2023. 

 

3.8.4 The Council held the following Housing Revenue Account financial reserves during 

2021-2022: 

 

1 April 2021   31 March 2022 

£000   £000 

1,000 Housing Revenue Account Balance 1,000 

3,771 Major repairs reserve 3,799 

4,388 General reserve 5,038 

9,159   9,837 

 

3.9 Medium Term Financial Plan 

 

3.9.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan attached as Appendix 4 has been revised to 

reflect the energy market price pressures, the potential staff pay award budget 

pressure and the costs associated with direct delivery of the waste service. 

 

3.9.2 The impact on the 2022-2023 budget is to be met from: 

 

 Energy market price pressures; set aside in reserves from 2022-2023 outturn 

 Staff pay staff; in-year staff turnover 

 Waste service one-off and operational costs (part year); reserves 

 

Reserve
 At 1 April 

2021 
 Movements 

 At 31 March 

2022 

 £000  £000  £000 

General Fund Balance               2,300                      -   2,300 

COVID; Business Rates and Council Tax 4,680 (3,964) 716 

Transformation 2,043 (393) 1,650 

Renewals 726 291 1,017 

Insurance 100 0 100 

Losses 862 (17) 845 

Budget Contingency 3,905 119 4,024 

Local Government Reorganisation 0 384 384 

Welfare Reserve 645 (164) 481 

Ring-fenced Grants 417 127 544 

Total 15,678 (3,617) 12,061 

Page 65

Agenda Item 11



3.9.3 Whilst the 2022-2023 budget remains balanced, these budget requirements recur 

until and unless they change, for example the energy market may recover 

somewhat during 2023 which will change the projections:  

 

 
 

3.9.3 Budget savings and additional income to close the budget gap will need to be 

brought forward as part of the 2023-2024 budget setting process with 

Westmorland and Furness Council. 

 

 

3.10 Capital Expenditure and Financing 

 

3.10.1 During 2021-2022 the Council’s capital expenditure was £5.335m: 

 

Investment Expenditure Source Financing 

  £000   £000 

Public sector housing 2,094 Major repairs reserve 2,060 

Private sector housing  2,024 Reserves/revenue 34 

Public buildings/properties  791 Capital grants 3,241 

Other public assets  426 Capital receipts 1 

Programme  5,335 Financing 5,335 

 

3.10.2 The capital receipts and grants held at the 31 March 2022 for 2022-2023 and the 

future years of the approved capital programme are: 

 

 Capital receipts £3.22m 

 Capital grants £7.69m 

 

3.11 Treasury Management 

 

3.11.1 The Council managed its cash and investments in-house during 2021-2022.  As 

at 31 March 2022, £32m of investments and cash of £8.3m were managed in-

house. 

 

3.11.2 The Council has 19 Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) loans outstanding at 31 

March 2022; 14 of these, £12.1m, relate to the Housing Revenue Account self-

2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025

£m £m £m

MTFP published March 2022 Balanced 0.4 0.5 

Staff pay pressures 0.3  0.3  0.3  

Energy market pressures 0.5  0.5  0.5  

Waste service delivery 0.6  1.1  1.1  

Staff turnover (0.3) -  -  

Earmarked reserves (0.6) -  -  

One-off adjustments (0.5) -  -  

MTFP published September 2022 Balanced 2.3  2.4  

Page 66

Agenda Item 11



financing settlement.  The balance outstanding is £34.5m; in total, £21.1m 

belonging to the Housing Revenue Account and £13.4m to the General Fund.  One 

loan is repayable in 2022-2023 of £1m. 

 

3.11.3 The authorised limit for borrowing in 2021-2022 was £55m and this was not 

breached.  All of the treasury management activities for 2021-2022 complied with 

the authority’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2021-2022, which was 

approved by Full Council on 25 February 2021. 

 

3.11.4 The Annual Treasury Management Statement for 2021-2022 is at Appendix 5. 

 

3.12 Collection Fund 

 

3.12.1 The Collection Fund showed a net deficit for 2021-2022 of £5.014m, made up of 

a deficit on Council Tax of £0.311m and a deficit on Business Rates of £4.703m. 

 

3.12.2 The significant deficit for Business Rates is due to COVID-19 reliefs and the 

precepting arrangements that determine when deficits are recognised.  

 

3.12.3 The Council Tax deficit is recoverable across 2022-23 and 2023-2024 to Cumbria 

County Council, the Police and Crime Commissioner for Cumbria and the General 

Fund £39k. 

 

3.12.4 The Business Rates deficit will be recovered from Government, Cumbria County 

Council and the General Fund £1.881m across 2022-2023 and 2023-2024. 

 

3.12.5 The accumulated amounts held at the 31 March 2022 for the Council are noted 

below and funding for these is set aside in the financial reserves: 

 

 £114k deficit for Council Tax; 

 £2.503m deficit for the Business Rate retention scheme. 

 

3.13 Financial Resilience 

 

3.13.1 In preparing the Statement of Accounts the Section 151 Officer is required to 

consider the going concern concept along with the Council’s financial resilience 

and how that is demonstrated. 

 

3.13.2 The Council has taken a number of major steps to ensure it remains financially 

resilient: 

 

 Balanced the General Fund medium term finances and planned drawdown of 

reserves to support delivery of the major projects programme and 

organisational change. 

 Balanced the medium term Housing Revenue Account finances and reviewed 

future maintenance requirements. 

Page 67

Agenda Item 11



 Refreshed the Council Plan and priorities with support from the Local 

Government Association. 

 Initiated an organisational development programme with the Local 

Government Association to ensure the effective use of staffing resources. 

 Participated in the Government consultation on the fairer funding review and 

business rate retention review. 

 Participated in the Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership and is linked with 

projects included in the Strategic Economic Plan which sets out how Local 

Growth Funding will be spent to boost the local economy in the County.  The 

economic impacts of the Strategic Economic Plan are beneficial to the longer 

term finances of the Council. 

 Reacted positively to the financial challenges by taking the opportunity to do 

things differently.  The broad strategy is to concentrate on three issues; 

generating income, transforming services to make them more efficient and cost 

effective, and supporting economic growth and development.   

 Development of Marina Village continues to be a priority and external funding 

opportunities are being pursued. 

 Delivering a number of major funding opportunities including, Town Deal, 

Heritage Action Zone, Heritage Lottery Fund, European Structural and 

Investment Fund, Levelling-Up Fund, and the Brownfield Land Release Fund. 

 The arrangements for providing services from the Park Leisure Centre 

changed from an external provider to a wholly owned local authority trading 

company; a wholly owned subsidiary.  

 Participated in the Government’s COVID-19 monthly data submission process 

the financial impacts of COVID-19 in order to obtain emergency funding. 

 

3.13.3 At the 31 March 2021 the Council held a General Fund balance of £2.3m and 

earmarked reserve of £0.8m for losses; these core reserves are important in the 

financial resilience of the authority and required to address any unexpected 

spending pressures and to cushion any cash flow impacts.  The authority’s ability 

to replenish its reserves is very limited, with any service surpluses in the revenue 

account being carried to meet known liabilities such as the business rate retention 

scheme income volatility, the commercial estate and the cremator rebuild. 

 

3.14 Material Events After the Accounting Date 

 

3.14.1 The contract for the provision of the authority’s waste, recycling and street 

cleansing services is coming to a mutually agreed early end.  The authority will 

directly deliver these services with effect from 10 October 2022.  The financial 

impacts for 2022-2023 include one-off transition and capital costs, and an increase 

in the revenue budget which is to be funded from reserves. 

 

3.14.2 The Medium Term Financial Plan has been updated to reflect the future running 

costs as currently projected; the Council will continue to work on the cost estimates 

and projections as the knowledge and detail of provisioning the service are firmed 

up.  The Council is working with the other Westmorland and Furness Councils, 

Page 68

Agenda Item 11



external experts and the current contractor to achieve a seamless transition for 

residents. 

 

3.15 Level of Reserves and Balances 

 

3.15.1 As the Section 151 Officer, the Director of Resources has confirmed satisfaction 

with the adequacy of the Council’s reserves and balances.  The levels of reserves 

and balances will be kept under review taking into account the realisation of the 

Medium Term Financial Plan assumptions and the financial settlement from the 

Government. 

 

3.16 Write Offs 

 

3.16.1 The bad debt provisions or amounts held for credit losses have been reviewed at 

the 31 March 2022. 

 

3.16.2 Write offs are only considered once all possible recovery action has been taken.  

Written off accounts are reinstated where debtors are subsequently traced or 

return to the Council for services. 

 

3.16.3 The write offs during 2021-2022 approved under delegation were: 

 

 £16k Council Tax (Barrow Borough Council share £2k) 

 £11k housing rents 

 £11k accounts receivable (fees, charges and rental income) 

 

4.0 Consultation  

4.1 Consultation is not relevant to the content of this report. 

 

5.0  Alternative Options  

5.1 There are no alternative options to present. 

 

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

6.1 The recommendations primarily concern the Council’s financial resilience which 

underpins the Council’s operations strategies and Council Plan. 

 

7.0 Implications  

Financial, Resources and Procurement  

7.1 The financial and resource implications are contained within the report; there are 

no procurement implications. 

 

Legal  

7.2 The statutory deadline for publishing the Statement of Accounts accompanied by 

the Annual Governance Statement was extended to the 31 July 2022 due to 

COVID-19.   

Page 69

Agenda Item 11



 

Local Government Reorganisation 

 

7.3 The 2021-2022 outturn and impacts on 2022-2023 will be shared with the 

Shadow Westmorland and Furness Council as part of the preparation of the 

2023-2024 budgets and financial plans. 

 

Equality and Diversity  

7.3 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis?  No, the report has no direct 
Equality and Diversity implications. 

 
Risk 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Statement of Accounts not 

published by the statutory 

deadline. 

Publication of the 

statutory financial 

statements and other 

statutory returns in a 

timely and accurate 

manner are a 

demonstration of strong 

financial stewardship 

which is considered 

when bidding for grant 

funding. 

Management of the 

closedown process and 

liaison with the appointed 

auditors to achieve an 

effective audit. 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Budget assumptions are 

insufficient. 
Budget shortfall. 

Best estimates are used 

and are supported by 

financial reserves. 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Core expenditure is beyond 

the budget proposed or 

income is lower than 

expected. 

Budget shortfall. 
Financial monitoring and 

budgetary control. 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Unplanned or unexpected 

expenditure pressures. 

Funding shortfall and 

moratorium. 

Financial planning and 

accountability. 

 
Contact Officers  

S M Roberts, directorsadmin@barrowbc.gov.uk 

 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No.  Name of Appendix  

1  General Fund Variances 

Page 70

Agenda Item 11



2  Movement in General Fund Reserves 

3 General Fund Reserves 

4 Medium Term Financial Plan 

5 Annual Treasury Management Statement 

 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document  Where it is available  

1 
Draft Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement 
https://barrowbc.gov.uk/the-council/financial-services/accounts/  

  

 
 

Page 71

Agenda Item 11

https://barrowbc.gov.uk/the-council/financial-services/accounts/


This page is intentionally left blank



General Fund Variances

Division Employee 
Costs

Supplies & 
Services

Property 
Costs

External 
Income

Other 
Items Total

Resources (£225,051)
Employee costs (£183,096)
Supplies and services £73,589 

Consultancy £21,475 
Software transferred to Central Services (£46,090)
Civil Contingencies Act (£14,960)
Bad debt provision £21,216 
Homeless funding £134,370 
Under £10k (£42,422)

External income £9,569 
Government grant to services £11,108 
DWP benefit subsidy £190,689 
Homeless funding (£166,634)
Under £10k (£25,594)

Other items (£125,113)
Housing Benefits (£88,125)
Under £10k (£36,988)

Community Services (£338,103)
Employee costs (£154,625)
Supplies and services £55,271 

Forum professional fees £11,177 
Litter bins £11,483 
Consultancy £57,871 
Refuse and recycling containers (£16,830)
Under £10k (£8,430)

Property costs (£64,779)
Forum utilities (£43,920)
Under £10k (£20,859)

External income (£142,957)
Recharges to CCC (£25,000)
Forum income (£63,464)

P
age 73

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix 1



General Fund Variances

Division Employee 
Costs

Supplies & 
Services

Property 
Costs

External 
Income

Other 
Items Total

Property rents £11,552 
Reduced recycling reward (£27,227)
Under £10k (£38,818)

Other items (£31,013)
Spend with contractors (£23,494)
Under £10k (£7,519)

Regeneration and Built Environment £117,166 
Employee costs (£110,210)
Supplies and services (£10,395)

Solicitors fees £27,384 
Professional fees (£10,000)
Under £10k (£27,779)

Property costs (£45,899)
Building repairs £46,309 
Business rates (£21,664)
Craven House electricity (£23,053)
Cleaning becks £10,432 
Under £10k (£57,923)

External income £224,647 
Licensing £48,508 
Grants and contributions (£21,536)
Planning fees £19,137 
Building control fees £64,400 
Commercial estate property rents £60,639 
Recoverable charges £31,708 
Under £10k £21,791 

Other items £59,023 
Central Services (£38,261)
Employee costs (£82,746)
Supplies and services £85,632 

Professional services £38,254 

P
age 74

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix 1



General Fund Variances

Division Employee 
Costs

Supplies & 
Services

Property 
Costs

External 
Income

Other 
Items Total

Consultancy £21,601 
Solicitors fees (£32,125)
Software transferred from Resources £46,090 
IT licencing £18,596 
Under £10k (£6,784)

Property costs (£17,858)
Other items (£23,289)
Corporate Amounts (£28,901)
Other items

Pension deficit contribution (£34,194) (£34,194)
Under £10k £5,293 £5,293 

Sub total (£564,871) £204,097 (£128,536) £91,259 (£115,099) (£513,150)
Earmarked Reserves £513,150 £513,150 
Total (£564,871) £204,097 (£128,536) £91,259 £398,051 £0 

P
age 75

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Movements in General Fund Reserves 2021-2022

 Item 

 C
O

VI
D

 R
el

ie
fs

 

 C
O

VI
D

 T
IG

 

 T
ra

ns
fo

rm
at

io
n 

 R
en

ew
al

s 

 L
os

se
s 

 C
on

tin
ge

nc
y 

 L
G

R
 

 O
th

er
s 

 G
ra

nt
s 

 T
ot

al
 

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 
Used to fund prior year Business Rate deficit (3,359) (621) - - - - - - - (3,980) 
Used to fund local government reorganisation - - - - - - (1,643) - - (1,643) 
Used to fund DWP benefit subsidy - - - - - (77) - (72) - (149) 

 Used to fund major projects - - (147) - - - - - - (147) 
 Used to fund transformation projects - - (92) - - - - - - (92) 
 Used to fund external organisations - - - - - (29) - (57) - (86) 
 Used to fund SMT support - - - - - (60) - - - (60) 
Used to fund prior year Council Tax deficit - (10) - - - (47) - - - (57) 
Used to fund additional audit fees - - - - - (35) - - - (35) 

 Used to fund public buildings maintenance - - - (35) - - - - - (35) 
Used to fund the citizens jury - - - - - (12) - - - (12) 

 Used to fund the BID levy - - - - - (10) - - - (10) 
 Used to fund budget variations and one-off items - - - - - (533) - - - (533) 
 Set aside for business rate deficits - 26 - - - 2,216 - - - 2,242 
 Set aside for energy price pressures - - - - - 513 - - - 513 
Set aside for budget contingencies - - - - - 340 - - - 340 

 Movement in specific revenue grants - - - - - - - - 127 127 
 Totals (3,359) (605) (239) (35) 0 2,266 (1,643) (129) 127 (3,617) 
Note: Transfers between reserves - - (154) 326 (17) (2,147) 2,027 (35) - 0 
Total Movement (393) 291 (17) 119 384 (164) 127 (3,617) (3,964) 

P
age 77

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix 2



T
his page is intentionally left blank



General Fund Reserves Balance at 31 
March 2022 Committed Specified Use Unallocated

£000 £000 £000 £000

Collection Fund 2020-2021 deficits 570                  570                  -                   -                   

Business Rates 2020-2021 deficit 106                  106                  -                   -                   
Council Tax 2020-2021 deficit 41                    41                    -                   -                   

Transformation projects delivered in 2022-2023 650                  650                  -                   -                   
Major Projects delivery and match funding 1,000               1,000               -                   -                   

Strategic Asset Management Plan 375                  375                  -                   -                   
Cremator relining fund (cyclical) 27                    -                   27                    -                   
Industrial Units (ring-fenced) 190                  -                   190                  -                   
Leisure Centre improvements 425                  425                  -                   -                   

Excesses 100                  -                   100                  -                   

VAT exemption - annual calculation 155                  -                   155                  -                   
MMI scheme of arrangement 440                  440                  -                   -                   
Uninsured losses 250                  -                   250                  -                   

Business Rate income - prior year deficits 1,828               1,828               -                   -                   
Council Tax - prior year deficits 74                    74                    -                   -                   
SMT Support 115                  -                   115                  -                   
Waste service transition support 378                  250                  -                   128                  
Waste service delivery 665                  -                   -                   665                  
Energy market price pressures 513                  513                  -                   -                   
Variations and one-off items 452                  -                   452                  -                   

Local requirements including Community Governance Review 383                  107                  277                  1-                      

Welfare - support to external advisors and Housing First 481                  481                  -                   -                   

Grants for specific expenditure and purposes 544                  -                   544                  -                   
Totals 9,762               6,860               2,110               792                  

Waste service items 1,043               

Contingency

Local Government Reorganisation

Others

Ring-fenced

COVID Section 31 Grants

COVID TIG

Transformation

Renewals

Insurance

Losses

P
age 79

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Medium Term Financial 
Plan 

 
 

 

Version Control: 

Document Name: Medium Term Financial Plan 

Version: 24082022 

Author: Director of Resources 

Approved by: Full Council 

Date Approved: September 2022 

Review Date: February 2023 

 

Page 81

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 1 

A. Introduction 
 
Financial planning is a key tool for strategic management and is an aid to operational 
decision making.  Without financial planning the Council would be unlikely to achieve 
its priorities or make the best use of its resources.  The Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP) is a financial representation of the Council’s vision and supports its priorities.   
 
Our vision is for our Borough to be a great place to live, work and visit. 
 
The thematic key priorities for the next four years are: 
 
1. Enabling our residents to live happy, healthy, productive lives. 

Putting people at the centre of all that we do is a key priority for the Council. We 
will do this by helping them to have the best start in life, enjoy healthy and active 
lifestyles, and have opportunities to improve their well-being by building strong 
communities. We will actively encourage people to work with us to design 
activities that meet their needs. We will work with our communities so that people 
can enjoy good health and live in a safe environment where they can be happy 
and reach their full potential. 

 
2. Creating vibrant, safe and welcoming places where people want to live. 

Our Borough is a great place to live, work and have fun. There is an abundance 
of natural beauty and heritage but there is also an opportunity to offer people 
more. We want a varied housing offer to retain our residents and attract new 
people to settle here. We want to build on existing strengths and encourage more 
people to visit the town centres in Barrow and Dalton by making them more 
vibrant so that residents and visitors enjoy a positive and memorable experience. 
We want to protect our natural environment. 

 
3. Supporting our economy to thrive and benefit all our residents. 

Barrow’s manufacturing heritage and its pivotal role in the defence industry is a 
source of local pride and tradition. Our world-class manufacturing expertise is 
recognised worldwide, however to enable inclusive growth we will seek to 
diversify our economy to secure opportunities for our residents by supporting 
other key industries including the growing renewable energy sector. In particular, 
we have the opportunity to secure continued investment in the Borough and 
ensure our residents have the skills and services to allow them to benefit from the 
growing economy.  We will deliver our ambitions through effective joint working 
with public and private sector partners, by offering a clear policy framework, 
proactive steps to promote the role and opportunities within the Borough and by 
securing additional public and private investment. 

 
These priorities will be used as the basis for all future business planning and to direct 
the activity of any spare capacity and resources.  Given the severe constraints on 
Council income it is necessary to think and act more like a business, drive 

Page 82

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 2 

efficiencies from services, generate more income and support innovation and best 
practice within services. 
 
This MTFP covers the period from 2022-2023 to 2024-2025.  The level of 
Government support for the Council is known for 2022-2023 and the years beyond 
are based on that same allocation/settlement with one-off grant allocations removed. 
 
B. Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 
The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy is to be financially stable and resilient 
whilst making strategic and productive use of all resources.  The Council strives for 
efficiency in the use of resources and by monitoring outcomes and outputs will 
demonstrate effectiveness and economy. 
 
In the medium term the Council is focussed on the core budget and ensuring that is 
balanced; resources will be focussed and aligned to achieving the delivery of the 
Council Plan Priorities.  Where necessary reserves will be used to control the pace 
of change, fund transformation, support long term financial resilience and aid the 
delivery of external funding programmes and projects such as the Town Deal. 
 
B.  Planning Process 
 
To ensure a robust and achievable Medium Term Financial Plan is established, the 
planning process covers a number of key aspects: 
 

 Leadership – leading Members, the Section 151 Officer and the Senior 
Management Team demonstrate strong leadership of finances and strategic 
direction. 

 Priorities – the Council Plan Priorities provide a focus for resources. 
 Ownership – the Director of Resources produces and updates the Medium 

Term Financial Plan. 
 Achievement – the Director of Resources will monitor adherence to the 

Medium Term Financial Plan and will quantify and report any significant 
deviation to the Senior Management Team and the Executive Committee. 

 Risk management – the MTFP highlights the key considerations in terms of 
finance; the Reserves and Balances Policy risk assesses financial reserves. 

 Efficiencies – the Senior Management Team will pursue efficiencies and value 
for money, realising savings for the core budget.  This is an on-going process. 

 Completeness – the MTFP incorporates the Council Priorities, the Budget 
Setting process for revenue, capital and treasury management, and the 
Council Tax setting. 

 Relevance – the MTFP is reviewed periodically throughout the financial year 
and revised for known financial impacts.  This includes a review once the 
previous financial year outturn is known. 

Page 83

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 3 

C. Budget Strategy and Funding 
 
During the austerity of local government finances of the last decade and in order to 
achieve a balanced budget, the Council achieved cumulative core budget changes of 
£8.9m.  The budget changes are deemed to be sustained now; the changes, or 
savings, were achieved by the 31 March 2019 and the subsequent budgets have 
balanced without requiring budget support from the financial reserves 
 
The Council is committed to continue to offer all current services as far as possible. 
 
Under the Local Government Finance Act 1992, the Council is charged with setting a 
balanced budget by the 11 March of the preceding financial year.  The budget for 
2022-2023 is balanced; projections ahead in the medium term are not balanced. 
 
The additional Business Rates retained are included in total revenue financing; the 
Council’s share of the Business Rates collected and retained has been higher than 
the settlement baseline since the inception of the scheme in 2013. 
 
It is hope that the national “re-set” and the Fairer Funding Review will have regard to 
the level of funding required by authorities and recognise the reliance upon local 
taxes which may be volatile. 
 
The Council Tax precept is included at the higher of £5 on Band D and 1.99% each 
year. 
 
For this iteration of the MTFP the existing settlement baseline is projected to 
increase at 2% per annum; the additional Business Rates are shown separately. 
 
To project the core budget forward the 2022-2023 budget is restated to eliminate the 
one-off use of reserves, non-core expenditure funded by matching income, technical 
accounting items and parish precepts. 
 
The original 2022-2023 budget balanced by relying on the one-off Government 
grants allocated in the settlement. 
 
Revisions to the 2022-2023 budget have been incorporated for the energy market 
price pressures, staff pay award pressures, and the change to direct delivery of the 
waste service; these are funded from staff turnover and reserves for 2022-2023. 
 
The one-off Government grants total £321,530 for 2022-2023 which indicates there 
is a core deficit in the budget which is inherent in the medium term projections: 
 

 Services Grant 2022-2023 £215,740 
 New Homes Bonus £101,560 
 New Burdens £4,230 

 

Page 84

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 4 

The 2022-2023 General Fund budget is set as a balanced budget, but for the 
purposes of projecting the budget to future years, it is the core budget that must be 
identified. 
 
D. Budget Projections 
 
The medium term projections are shown in summary below and in further detail at 
Appendix 1.  The assumptions and estimates are explained in the subsequent 
Section. 
 

 
  
The core deficit for 2022-2023 is shown to identify the incremental widening of the 
core deficit for 2023-2024 of £2.4m and for 2024-2025 of £2.5m; the incremental 
deficit projected for 2024-2025 is the shortfall between the costs from inflationary 
pressures against the additional income raised from local taxes. 
 
In summary, compared to the Plan published in March 2022 the movements are: 
 

 
 
The cumulative budget deficit unfunded is £4.7m; the core deficits projected for 
2023-2024 and 2024-2025. 
 

2022-2023 
Budget as 
published

2022-2023 
Core Budget

2023-2024 
Projected 

Budget

2024-2025 
Projected 

Budget
£ £ £ £

Net Revenue Budget 8,841,970      10,982,170    13,278,840    13,634,070    
Core Revenue Financing 8,520,440-      10,982,170-    10,895,330-    11,135,840-    
Core Deficit/(Surplus) 321,530         -                  2,383,510      2,498,230      
One-off Government Grants 321,530-         -                  -                  -                  
Budget deficit/(surplus) -                  -                  2,383,510      2,498,230      

Incremental deficit 321,530-         2,383,510      114,720         

2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025
£m £m £m

MTFP published March 2022 Balanced 0.4 0.5 
Staff pay pressures 0.3  0.3  0.3  
Energy market pressures 0.5  0.5  0.5  
Waste service delivery 0.6  1.1  1.1  
Staff turnover (0.3) -  -  
Earmarked reserves (0.6) -  -  
One-off adjustments (0.5) -  -  
MTFP published September 2022 Balanced 2.3  2.4  

Page 85

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 5 

There are a number of uncertainties that cannot be incorporated into the budget 
projections that may reduce the core deficit: 
 

 New Homes Bonus – funding may continue in later years 
 Services Grant – this one-off grant has been paid for two years 
 Income from Fees and Charges – income may exceed expectations 
 Expenditure – whilst budgets are set against expected requirements each 

year, the austerity experienced over the last decade has resulted in prudence, 
efficiency and innovation.  Savings and reductions may materialise.  As an 
example, the full staff establishment is budgeted but significant gaps in 
vacancies will save budget – this is not desired or targeted but may occur. 

 Energy market prices may recover during 2023 or 2024. 
 The opportunities from direct delivery of the waste service are yet to be fully 

explored and quantified. 
 
The 2021-2022 outturn resulted in an unplanned contribution to reserves of £513k 
which has been set aside for the energy price pressures.  The underspend is mainly 
around staffing where services were unable to recruit to all posts during 2021-2022; 
turnover will occur in 2022-2023 and set aside to cover the pay award pressures. 
 
The 2023-2024 budgets will be prepared with Westmorland and Furness Council, 
and all the usual review and consideration work will be undertaken for the Council’s 
services. 
 
The 2022-2023 quarterly monitoring will identify any further core permanent changes 
and reflect those in the MTFP.  The MTFP will be used as part of the key supporting 
information in building the budgets for the Westmorland and Furness Authority and a 
mechanism for feeding individual authority changes through will be established by 
the Finance and Commercial Board. 
 
Whilst the MTFP is not able to be presented as balanced, the future grant funding, 
Business Rate Retention, service income and service efficiencies are somewhat 
likely to contribute to reducing the core deficit. 
 
E. Assumptions and Estimates 
 
It is necessary to make certain assumptions and calculate estimates when projecting 
the budget into future years.  Some budget items can be simply uplifted by an 
estimated percentage for inflationary pressures whilst others are more complex. 
 
It is important that the underlying bases used to produce the budget projections are 
set out in order to measure/vary those as part of budget monitoring during the 
financial year. 
 

Page 86

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 6 

1. General Principles 
 
The Council pursues value for money at all times and whilst the budget projections 
do not anticipate a specific saving or budget reduction, all efficiencies will be realised 
and either reduce the core deficit, repurposed within the budget or reserved for 
future expenditure if necessary. 
 
No service reductions are anticipated and no significant changes in service demand 
are projected.  From 2022-2023 the Council’s budgets include the funding 
arrangements for Barrow Forward Limited, the Council’s wholly owned leisure 
company operating the park leisure centre.  From this September 2022 revision, the 
Council’s budgets will also include the direct delivery of the waste service.  
 
2. Staff Related Expenditure 
 
The full establishment is budgeted for as it is anticipated that posts currently vacant 
will be filled.  The organisational restructure has been incorporated into the budget 
overall and resources aligned to the new divisions from April 2022. 
 
Employees with incremental progression within grades will progress as normal. 
 
The pay award for 2022-2023 has been updated to reflect the latest offer but is not 
yet finalised.  Future year pay awards have been estimated as 2%. 
 
3. Bought-in Supplies and Services 
 
These are the annual assumptions applied to each of the projected years.  There 
has been no adjustment for gas and electricity prices reducing from the peak 
expected in 2022-2023; the projections have assumed the 2022-2023 costs become 
the new base. 
 
Property costs: 

 Utilities 3% 
 Business Rates 2% 
 Maintenance contracts and materials 3% 

 
Supplies and services 

 Software maintenance 3% 
 Subscriptions and publications 3% 
 Professional fees and consultancy % 

 
Contracts 

 Revenues and benefits IT 0% 
 Building cleaning contract 3% 
 Grounds maintenance contract 3% 

Page 87

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 7 

4. External Income 
 
External income covers over £5.9m of the Council’s gross expenditure. 
 
There are no new fee or charge price increases proposed with the 2022-2023 
General Fund budget and that has been mirrored in the medium term with the 
following exceptions: 
 

 Certain services operate on full cost recovery and the medium term budgets 
maintain that for: allotments; building control (the fee earning element); and 
local land charges. 

 The recycling credit/reward per ton increases by 3% each year (this is 
statutory).  No increase in recycling tonnage is included in the budget 
projections, but it is hoped that an improvement will materialise from the 
communications and marketing strategy.   

 It is assumed that the additional rent from letting the Waterfront Gateway 
Business Centre will cover the income losses from the Marina Village site. 

 Administration grants that relate to Housing Benefits, Council Tax Support 
and Business Rates all reducing by 5% each year. 

 Income related to the waste service has been introduced and will require a 
review – this may be part of the Westmorland and Furness harmonisation. 

 
5. Treasury Management 
 
The Council has PWLB fixed rate debt belonging to the General Fund and the 
Housing Revenue Account.  No new borrowing is to be drawn down and maturities 
during the medium term are repaid. 
 
The Minimum Revenue Provision is the amount required to be set aside to reply debt 
under statute.  The amount does not alter in the medium term. 
 
In terms of interest earned on temporary surplus cash the Council manages this 
under the Treasury Management Strategy which generally focusses deposits with 
Building Societies and other local authorities – security is paramount, then liquidity 
and finally yield. 
 
The weighted average principle for the years and the average rate of interest 
assumed is: 
 

 2022-2023 £24.5m 0.3% 
 2023-2024 £20m 0.75% 
 2024-2025 £20m 1% 

 
 

Page 88

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 8 

6. Council Tax Precept 
 
The Council Tax Base increased during 2021-2022 and this impacted on the Council 
Tax calculation for 2022-2023.  The increase comes from changes in chargeable 
dwellings in the borough, the discounts applied, and the uptake of Council Tax 
Support; Council Tax Support is netted off the Council Tax Base. 
 
A 1% growth in each year is projected and this is based on normal actual growth. 
 
The Council Tax precept in the MTFP excludes the Parish precepts as those are 
determined by the local councils. 
 
The Council Tax is assumed to increase by the maximum permitted by the 
Referendum Principles which is currently £5 on the Band D amount or 1.99%. 
 
7. Settlement Baseline and Additional Business Rates 
 
At some point the Revenue Support Grant will be merged into the settlement 
baseline.  The settlement baseline is the value of Business Rates that Government 
expects the Council to retain from the whole value collected.  The settlement 
baseline increases along with the Business Rate multiplier each year; the projections 
assume a 2% increase. 
 
The Council’s actual share of the whole value of Business Rates collected is higher 
than the settlement baseline.  The additional Business Rates income has previously 
been partly used to fund the General Fund budget and set aside for income volatility 
(the reserved volatility is used to cushion the budget). 
 
In previous years around 20% of the additional Business Rates is excluded from the 
budget to be set aside against volatility.  It is not possible to exclude such a 
percentage of revenue financing in balancing the 2022-2023 budget, or the years 
ahead.  The volatility reserve will be reduced should the budget require support from 
movement in the business rate base and increased should the business rate base or 
pooling create a surplus. 
 
No significant additions or losses are assumed in the Business Rate base. 
 
Membership of the Cumbria Business Rate Pool continues, and the estimated pool 
benefit is included in the budget. 
 
8. New Homes Bonus 
 
The New Homes Bonus shown for 2022-2023 has surpassed the threshold and grant 
has been awarded, however that is noted that the awards for 2022-2023 shall not 
attract legacy payments. 
 

Page 89

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 9 

F. Reserves and Balances 
 
The Council holds earmarked reserves and has fund balances, and these can be 
held for three main purposes: 
 

 a working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows and avoid 
unnecessary temporary borrowing – this forms part of general reserves; 

 a contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies – 
this also forms part of general reserves; 

 a means of building up funds, often referred to as earmarked reserves to meet 
known or predicted requirements; earmarked reserves are accounted for 
separately but remain legally part of the General Fund. 

 
Earmarked reserves are used to fund items of non-recurring expenditure. 
 
Upon closing each financial year, the outturn is reviewed and surpluses are 
appropriates to relevant specific reserves (commercial properties for example), and 
the balance added to the Budget Contingency reserve; all reserves are reviewed 
when the financial year is closed and transfers are made where required. 
 
In order to be in a position to mitigate the fluctuations in the Borough Council’s 
retained share of Business Rates, income has been prudently set aside into a 
volatility reserve.  As the localisation of Business Rates progresses there is an 
increased risk and reliance placed on Business Rates to finance Council services; 
this may be over and above the current fluctuations, revaluations and appeals. 
 
The movements in reserves included in the projections are the best estimates based 
on previous years and known timeframes, but there may be slippage across the 
period covered.  The movement for 2022-2023 consists of the movements presented 
with the budget, plus others that are anticipated to be drawn down during 2022-2023 
but amounts and timing are not certain. 
 
Until the funding position beyond 2022-2023 is known, reserves as a whole will be 
protected as far as possible.  The Council’s reserves are set out in the Reserves and 
Balances policy.  Reserves are earmarked for specific purposes through 
recommendations to Full Council from the Executive Committee.  The transferring, 
repurposing or extinguishing of reserves is dealt with by the Executive Committee.  
 
The General Fund balance at the 31 March, 2022 was £2,300,000; the minimum 
balance required is currently £1,900,000. 
 
The General Fund earmarked reserves over the life of this Medium Term Financial 
Plan are projected in the following table. 
 

Page 90

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 10 

 
 
The use of reserves across 2022-2025 includes major projects drawdown, public 
buildings maintenance, insurance excesses, local government reorganisation, 
budget variations, welfare support, waste service transition, and some drawdown of 
ring-fenced grants. 
 
Where necessary any depleted earmarked reserves will be reviewed and topped-up 
from other reserves or alternatively from revenue. 
 
The purpose of the earmarked reserves is as follows: 
 

 Transformation – funds for service redesign and investment in efficiencies; 
restructuring; funds for major projects and match funding. 

 Renewals – revenue funds set aside for capital/major projects and cyclical 
renewal of major items. 

 Insurance - funds set aside for excesses payable over the medium term. 
 Losses – funds set aside for the partial exemption VAT threshold, Municipal 

Mutual Insurance scheme of arrangement and uninsured losses. 
 Contingency – funds set aside for one-off items that are not in the core 

revenue budget including business rate volatility and the waste service 
transition. 

 Welfare support – funds set aside for Housing First and external welfare 
funding commitments. 

 Local Government Reorganisation – this reserve was created for the 
Implementation across Cumbria and for funds set aside for costs incurred 
directly that are outside the purposes of the Implementation Reserve. 

 COVID-19 – this reserve holds the grant funding that related to the borough 
share of Council Tax and Business Rates; the grant funding relating to relief 
awarded and income losses that will be distributed under existing precepting 
arrangements. 

 Revenue grants – ring-fenced income which has no claw-back conditions 
attached and are yet to be applied to matching expenditure. 

Reserve
 Outturn at 31 

March 2022 
 Estimate at 31 

March 2023 
 Estimate at 31 

March 2024 
 Estimate at 31 

March 2025 
£000 £000 £000 £000

COVID Section 31 Grants 570                     -                      -                      -                      
COVID TIG Grants 147                     75                       -                      -                      
Transformation 1,650                 362                     217                     95                       
Renewals 1,017                 639                     319                     242                     
Insurance Excesses 100                     80                       60                       40                       
Losses 845                     845                     845                     845                     
Budget Contingency 4,024                 1,298                 1,190                 1,082                 
Local Government Reorganisation 384                     -                      -                      -                      
Welfare Support 481                     114                     57                       -                      
Ring-fenced Grants 544                     342                     267                     192                     
Total 9,762                 3,755                 2,955                 2,496                 

Page 91

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 11 

G. Council Tax 
 
The Council Tax for 2022-2023 was set by Full Council on the 24 February 2022.   
 
The unparished Band A value is £166.94 including a £3.33 increase (2.04%). 
 
The unparished Band D value is £250.41 with the Tax Base at 19,899.25. 
 
The Council’s demand on the Collection Fund to meet the 2022-2023 General Fund 
budget was set at £4,982,970 excluding parish precepts. 
 
The Council Tax Base is calculated on Band D equivalents; the following table 
highlights that 89% of properties in the Borough are lower than Band D, giving the 
authority a low Council Tax Base. 
 
The chargeable dwellings for 2022-2023 are shown in their Council Tax bands: 
 

 
 
Barrow Borough Council is the billing authority for the borough which means that in 
addition to the amount collected to pay for the services directly delivered, the Council 
also bills for, collects and distributes the precepts or Council Tax for Cumbria County 
Council, the Police & Crime Commissioner for Cumbria and the local parishes. 
 
 
 

Page 92

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 12 

Each £1 collected belongs to: 
 

 
 
H. Risk 
 
Estimates contain an element of risk from items such as inflation, the financial 
markets, Government support, customer demand and the anticipation of future 
events.  The Council’s Reserves and Balances Policy sets out the risk assessment 
applied to estimates.  Some of the key financial considerations are: 
 

 Strong contracting and procurement. 
 Uncertainty concerning future funding. 
 Delivery of the Council Plan within financial constraints. 
 Impacts of delivering of major projects and accountable body status. 
 Allowances for inflation may be insufficient. 
 Impacts of establishment restructure or job evaluation and grading. 
 Employer pension contributions may increase. 
 National insurance contributions may increase. 
 Staff grading changes or other structural changes are not budgeted for. 
 Usage of gas and electricity may be estimated too low. 
 Business Rates and water rates may change. 
 Professional services may be required to support key functions. 
 Local Government Reorganisation. 
 The possibility of driving further efficiency savings from the budget. 

Page 93

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 13 

 No major contracts are due to be retendered during the life of this Plan. 
 Some lower value (non-major) long-term contracts are to be retendered during 

the life of this Plan. 
 Additional expenditure items must be necessary and are subject to approval; 

as determined by the Director of Resources. 
 Recurring additional expenditure must be approved and is subject to the 

approval of the Director of Resources. 
 Cash flow requirements must be constantly reviewed. 
 The cost of new borrowing is not included or anticipated. 
 Interest rate fluctuations. 
 The next triennial pension fund valuation will apply from April 2023. 
 Uncertain of the continuation of the Cumbria Business Rates Pool. 
 The impact of Universal Credit and other welfare reforms. 
 Economic downturn. 
 Strong and robust financial management. 
 New requirements or legislative changes with significant implications. 

 
I. Capital 
 
The Capital Programme is based on the principles set out in the Capital Strategy. 
 
The Programme for this medium term period does not include any borrowing which 
would lead to increased capital costs in the revenue budget. 
 
The Programme does include anticipated funding for known grants when projects 
are confirmed, capital receipts, and the use of the Major Repairs Reserve. 
 
The Renewals Reserve may be called upon where Council owned properties require 
major capital works; this is informed by the Strategic Asset Management Plan.   
 
The capital receipts include known land disposals that are already identified and in 
progress – if those receipts are realised then the Programme is fully funded. 
 
The projects in future years will not be commissioned until sufficient funding is in 
place. 
 
For externally funded projects, the Council’s policy is not to include schemes in the 
overall Programme until such time as the sources of funding have been confirmed.   
 
The summarised Capital Programme 2022-2025 consist of: 
 

Page 94

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 14 

 

 
Any further capital investment is dependent upon generating additional usable 
capital receipts or securing external funding. 
 
J. Treasury 
 
The Treasury Management Strategy and Capital Strategy are set annually.  The 
Treasury Strategy includes the Prudential Indicators that control all of the Council’s 
treasury activities, the borrowing strategy, the annual investment strategy and credit 
and counterparty risk management. 
 
CIPFA defines treasury management as: “The management of the local authority’s 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the 
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 
 

 2022-2023
£ 

 2023-2024
£ 

 2024-2025
£ 

Programme
Public Housing 2,161,260    2,161,260    2,161,260    
Private Housing 1,310,000    1,000,000    1,000,000    
Housing Market Renewal 1,532,895    2,537,917    616,100        
Public Buildings 192,948        119,888        659,164        
Industrial & Commercial Property 1,766,136    477,000        222,667        
Regeneration & Public Realm 14,279,208  20,655,448  2,180,669    
Total of Programme 21,242,447  26,951,513  6,839,860    

 2022-2023
£ 

 2023-2024
£ 

 2024-2025
£ 

Financing
Disabled Facilities Grant 1,000,000    1,000,000    1,000,000    
European Structural and Investment Fund 529,347        -                -                
Town Deal 9,604,817    10,256,851  2,867,367    
Heritage Action Zone 231,100        34,665          -                
Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership 567,157        -                -                
Levelling Up Fund 4,497,115    11,295,370  -                
Brownfield Land Release Fund 1,519,081    -                -                
Major Repairs Reserve 2,161,260    2,161,260    2,161,260    
GF Earmarked Reserves 502,014        142,998        263,819        
Usable Capital Receipts 630,556        2,060,369    547,414        
Total of Financing 21,242,447  26,951,513  6,839,860    

Page 95

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 15 

The Council is required to set the maximum level, beyond which external debt is 
prohibited.  This limit can only be set or revised by Full Council.  This Prudential 
Indicator is the Authorised Limit for External Debt: 
 

 
 

The General Fund external debt is long term whilst the Housing Revenue Account 
has a mixture of maturity dates due to the self-financing exit from the previous 
Government subsidy regime. 
 
The external debt for MTFP period will be: 
 

 
 
K. Housing Revenue Account 
 
From the 1 April 2012 the Housing Subsidy system ended.  The Housing Revenue 
Account is self-financing as set out in its 30 year Business Plan; the rent from the 
dwellings pays for the upkeep and management of the dwellings. 
 
The Housing Revenue Account remains a ring-fenced account as determined by the 
Local Government Housing Act 1989. 
 
The Housing Revenue Account budget for 2022-2023 was set by Full Council on the 
24 February 2022; a balanced budget with a 3.1% rent increase for dwellings and 
garages. 
 
For 2022-2023 there is a contribution from the Major Repairs Reserve to cover the 
increased Housing Maintenance Investment plan 
 
The dwelling stock at the 1 April 2022 was 2,549 and is estimated that there will be 8 
sales in 2022-2023 and 14 sales per year assumed for future budget projections.   
 
The projections out to 2024-2025 show a balanced budget for the Housing Revenue 
Account; the projections use the same assumptions as the General Fund where 
applicable, plus dwelling and garage rents increasing by a notional 1% each year to 
provide an indication of income only.  Where any surplus arises it has been allocated 

2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m
Total 55.7 54.9 55.0 55.2

Authorised limit

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
At 1st April 36.479 35.479 34.479 33.479 32.479
Expected change (1.000) (1.000) (1.000) (1.000) (1.000)
Gross debt at 31st March 35.479 34.479 33.479 32.479 31.479

External debt

Page 96

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Barrow Borough Council 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2022-2023 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 16 

to the maintenance budget which fluctuates each year in accordance with the overall 
housing maintenance programme. 
 
The Housing Revenue Account balance at the 31 March 2022 was £1,000,000; the 
minimum balance required is currently £900,000. 
 
The MTFP projection for the Housing Revenue Account is: 
 

 

 Approved 
Budget

2022-2023 

 Estimated Core 
Budget

2023-2024 

 Estimated Core 
Budget

2024-2025 
£ £ £

Expenditure:
Repairs and maintenance 3,712,430           3,660,760           3,687,320           
Supervision and management 3,893,500           3,940,070           3,987,890           
Rents, rates, taxes and others 19,000               19,380               19,760               
Depreciation of dwellings 1,867,340           1,867,340           1,867,340           
Depreciation of other assets 140,300             140,300             140,300             
Debt management expenses 16,290               16,290               16,290               
Bad debt provision 157,030             157,030             157,030             
Total expenditure 9,805,890           9,801,170           9,875,930           

Income:
Dwelling rents 10,124,360-         10,168,750-         10,212,920-         
Non-dwelling rents 395,710-             399,650-             403,620-             
Charges for services and facilities 1,199,790-           1,199,790-           1,199,790-           
Total income 11,719,860-         11,768,190-         11,816,330-         

Interest payable and similar charges 862,320             836,710             809,690             

Adjustments under regulations:
Voluntary repayment provision 816,520             816,520             816,520             
Revenue contribution to capital 293,920             293,920             293,920             
Pension contributions 19,480               19,870               20,270               
Movement in reserves 78,270-               -                    -                    
Total adjustments 1,051,650           1,130,310           1,130,710           

Deficit/(surplus) -                    -                    -                    

Page 97

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 4



Medium Term Financial Projections Appendix 1

Approved 
Budget

2022-2023

Eliminate Non-
core Items

Core Budget 
2022-2023

Budget 
Changes

Estimated 
Core Budget 

2023-2024

Budget 
Changes

Estimated 
Core Budget 

2024-2025

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Subjective headings:

Staff Related Expenditure 8,244,520       1,355,730       9,600,250       2,073,720       11,673,970     277,960          11,951,930     

Bought-in Supplies & Services 8,961,400       1,148,440-       7,812,960       184,270-          7,628,690       131,150          7,759,840       

Cost of Housing Benefits 480,930          -                  480,930          -                  480,930          -                  480,930          

External Income 6,267,440-       17,960            6,249,480-       149,870-          6,399,350-       3,880-              6,403,230-       

Internal Income 1,045,960-       -                  1,045,960-       -                  1,045,960-       -                  1,045,960-       

Treasury Management 1,016,560       -                  1,016,560       76,000-            940,560          50,000-            890,560          

Use of Reserves 2,548,040-       1,914,950       633,090-          633,090          -                  -                  -                  

Net Revenue Budget 8,841,970       2,140,200       10,982,170     2,296,670       13,278,840     355,230          13,634,070     

Budget financed by:

Council Tax Precept 5,131,730-       148,760          4,982,970-       150,320-          5,133,290-       154,450-          5,287,740-       

Settlement Baseline 4,447,980-       -                  4,447,980-       -                  4,447,980-       -                  4,447,980-       

Additional Business Rates 1,140,320-       51,010            1,089,310-       84,370-            1,173,680-       86,060-            1,259,740-       

New Homes Bonus 101,560-          -                  101,560-          101,560          -                  -                  -                  

Other Government Grants 360,350-          -                  360,350-          219,970          140,380-          -                  140,380-          

Prior Year Council Tax 82,070            82,070-            -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

Prior Year Business Rates 2,257,900       2,257,900-       -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  

Total Revenue Financing 8,841,970-       2,140,200-       10,982,170-     86,840            10,895,330-     240,510-          11,135,840-     

Deficit/(surplus) -                  -                  -                  2,383,510       2,383,510       114,720          2,498,230       

P
age 98

A
genda Item

 11
A

ppendix 4



 

Annual Treasury Management Statement 2021-2022 
 
 
Introduction 
 
The Council managed its cash and investments in-house during 2021-2022.  All 
activities complied with the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2021-2022, 
which was approved by Full Council on the 25 February 2021.  The Council is 
required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 to produce an 
annual treasury management review of activities and the actual prudential and 
treasury indicators.  This report meets the requirements of both the Code of Practice 
for Treasury Management and the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities. 
 
The Borrowing Requirement and Debt 
 
The Council’s underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure is called the 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).  The original budgeted CFR compared to the 
actual outturn is shown in the following table: 
 

31/3/2021 
Actual CFR 

 
31/3/2022 

Budget CFR 
31/3/2022 

Actual CFR 
£19.1m General Fund £18.6m £18.6m 
£17.2m Housing Revenue Account £16.4m £16.4m 
£36.3m Total £35.0m £35.0m 

 
The movement in the CFR for 2021-2022 was as expected. 
 
Borrowing Outturn 
 
No new loans were taken out, one loan matured naturally and no rescheduling was 
performed.   
 

 Debt outstanding at 31 March 2022 of £34.5m: 
o £13.4m belonging to the General Fund 

 4.37% average interest rate 
 Average life 22.7 years 
 £5.2m under borrowed compared to CFR 

o £21.1m belonging to the Housing Revenue Account  
 3.58% average interest rate 
 Average life 12.1 years 
 £4.7m over borrowed compared to CFR 
 One loan of £1m is repayable in March 2023 

Page 99

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 5



 

The maturity structure of the Council’s external borrowing is shown in the following 
table: 
 

31 March 2021   31 March 2021 
£000   £000 

 1,000 Less than 1 year  1,000 
 1,000 Between 1 and 2 years  1,000 
 3,000 Between 2 and 5 years  3,000 
 4,350 Between 5 and 10 years  7,350 

 11,500 Between 10 and 15 years  8,500 
 2,239 Between 15 and 20 years  1,239 

- Between 20 and 25 years - 
- Between 25 and 30 years 4,000 

 12,390 Between 30 and 35 years  8,390 
- Between 35 and 40 years - 

35,479   34,479 
 
Investment Outturn 
 
The Council’s investment policy is governed by DCLG guidance, which has been 
implemented in the annual investments strategy since 2012.  The policy sets out the 
approach for choosing investment counterparties and is based on credit ratings 
provided by the three main credit rating agencies, supplemented by additional 
market data. 
 
The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy and the 
Council had no liquidity difficulties.  The Council maintained an average balance of 
£39m of internally managed funds; significant COVID-19 funding as held as a 
cashflow aid from Government.  The Council is required to consider the potential of 
credit loss based on the wider market of investments and the history of default for 
individual counterparties.  The potential for expected credit loss for the investments 
held at the 31 March 2022 has been estimated as £11k; this is considered de-
minimus and is not included in the financial statements.  There is also no credit loss 
in the financial statements in relation to the Clusters of Empty Homes loans. 
 
Invested funds and funds held for daily cash flow needs, earned an average rate of 
return of 0.2%; £80k.  A comparable performance indicator was the average 7-day 
LIBID rate which was discontinued at the end of 2021.  The alternative benchmark is 
the Sterling Overnight Index Average (SONIA) and using the overnight rate as there 
is no 7-day rate.  The combined average of these rates for 2021-2022 was 0.15%. 
 
The total usable reserves, balances and provisions held at 31 March 2022 of £33.3m 
were resourced by: 

o £32m held in short term investments with 0.2% average interest rate 
and average life under 6 months 

Page 100

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 5



 

o Cash held in a deposit account at the bank of £7.9m 
o A current account balance of £0.3m 
o £6.9m working capital (creditors are higher than debtors at year end) 

At the 31 March 2022 the Council held a significant amount of COVID funding 
provided as an aid to cashflow during 2020-2021 and 2021-2022; this will be repaid 
to Government during 2022-2023. 
 
There were no investments beyond 364 days and the investments held at the year-
end will all mature by the 6 February 2023. 
 
Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
 
During 2021-2022 the Council complied with all legislative and regulatory 
requirements.   
 
In addition to the Capital Financing Requirement, the key prudential and treasury 
indicators detailing the impact of capital activities during the year are as set out in the 
following table: 
 

2020-2021 
Actual 

 
2021-2022 

Budget 
2021-2022 

Actual 
£1.2m Capital expenditure – General Fund £3.6m £3.2m 
£1.1m Capital expenditure - HRA £2.1m £2.1m 
£2.3m Total capital expenditure £5.7m £5.3m 

    
£13.4m External debt – General Fund £13.4m £13.4m 
£22.1m External debt – HRA £21.1m £21.1m 
£35.5m Total gross borrowing £34.5m £34.5m 

    
(£18.0m) Investments – all under a year  (£16.0m) (£32.0m) 

    
(£4.6m) Net debt – General Fund (£2.6m) (£18.6m) 
£22.1m Net debt – HRA £21.1m £21.1m 
£17.5m Total net borrowing £18.5m £2.5m 

 
The lower capital expenditure on General Fund is primarily caused by the 
underspend on Disabled Facilities Grants and the spend on the Town Deal that was 
not part of the original Capital Programme budget. 
 
In order to ensure that borrowing levels are prudent over the medium term, the 
Council’s external borrowing must only be for a capital purpose.  This essentially 
means that the Council is not borrowing to support revenue expenditure.  Gross 
borrowing should not exceed the 2021-2022 Capital Financing Requirement, plus the 

Page 101

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 5



 

expected changes for the next two years; this allows the Council some flexibility to 
borrow in advance of the immediate capital need.  The gross borrowing of £34.5m is 
below the 2021-2022 Capital Financing Requirement of £35m. 
 
The authorised limit is the affordable borrowing limit required by section 3 of the 
Local Government Act 2003.  The Council does not have the power to borrow above 
this level and has not done so.  The operational boundary is the expected borrowing 
position of the Council during the year; periods where the actual position is above 
the boundary is acceptable. 
 
The borrowing limits for 2021-2022 are shown in the following table: 
 
 General Fund HRA Council 
Authorised limit £19.3m £36.4m £55.7m 
Maximum gross borrowing £13.4m £22.1m £35.5m 
    
Operational boundary £15.8m £23.1m £38.9m 
Average gross borrowing £13.4m £21.6m £35.0m 
 
The financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream indicates the trend in the 
cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation costs net of investment 
income) against the net revenue stream: 
 

2020-2021 
Actual 

 2021-2022 
Budget 

2021-2022 
Actual 

5% General Fund 15% 6% 
15% Housing Revenue Account 13% 15% 

 
The General Fund percentage is unlike the budget position due to the presentation 
of the COVID-19 business rate reliefs in the budgeted net revenue stream; the 6% is 
more reflective of the General Fund net revenue stream as expected. 
 
Exposure 
 
The Council had no exposure to variable rates in 2021-2022 as all debts and 
investments were held at fixed rates.  The limit for exposure to fixed rates is up to 
100% of the portfolio; up to 30% for variable rates. 

Page 102

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 5



PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee 

Wednesday 14 September 2022 

Brownfield Land Release Fund – Design Works 

 
 

Report from:   Director of People and Place 

Report Author:  Chris Jones 

Wards:    Central; 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions  

1.1 The Council has secured £1.5m from Brownfield Land Release Fund (BLRF) to 

deliver a junction improvement at Salthouse Road/Cavendish Dock Road. 

Following a competitive procurement and appraisal process, it is recommended 

that the successful tenderer identified in the Part Two appendix is awarded the 

design contract. Details of the tender opportunity and the appraisal process are 

set out in the paper. 

 

2.0  Recommendation  

2.1 It is recommended that Executive Committee: -  

 

Awards the design tender for Salthouse Road/Cavendish Dock Road 

junction to the successful tenderer identified in the Part Two appendix. 

 

3.0 Background and Proposals  

3.1 In June 2021, the Council submitted a bid to the BLRF. The fund is intended to 
allow brownfield land to be brought back into use for housing development. This 
bid was made through the Cumbria One Public Estate programme (Minute 11 
26/05/21 refers). 

 
3.2 The bid was for just over £1.5m and will allow the Council to improve the junction 

at Salthouse Rd/Cavendish Dock Rd, thereby providing a second viable access to 
the proposed Marina Village site, and facilitating future development. The funding 
will also allow an electrical substation on the eastern side of the site to be relocated 
to further facilitate development. In November 2021, we were notified that our bid 
had been successful. 

 
3.3 Barrow Borough Council will procure and oversee the design phase of the work. 

The delivery of the junction improvement will take place in Summer 2023. 

Page 103

Agenda Item 12



 

3.4 The Council advertised the opportunity via the Chest, with the proposed form of contract 
being an NEC Professional Services Contract, Option A (Activity Schedule). 

 

Event Date 

Publish Find a Tender Notice 13.06.2022 

Issue ITT 13.06.2022 

Clarification period (see 1.6) 13.06.2022 - 06.07.2022 

Deadline for receipt of clarification 
questions. 

06.07.2022 

Deadline for receipt of Tenders 15.07.2022 

Evaluation of Tenders 20.07.2022 

Intention to award contract decision 25.07.2022 

Standstill Period 10 days 

Indicative Starting Date September 2022 (subject to Exec 
Approval) 

  

 

The tender scores were weighted as follows: 

Price: 30% 

Quality (Experience and Resources): 35% 

 Quality (Methodology): 35% 

 

3.5 The quality was assessed by a panel of three officers. The average quality score 

was then added to the weighted score for price to give an overall score out of 1000 

for each submission. 

 

3.6 The tenderers and their scores are shown in the Part 2 appendix. Please note this 

appendix is private and exempt from publication under Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to 

Information) (Variation) Order 2006 for the following reason; Paragraph 3 – 

Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that information). 

 

3.7 It is recommended that the successful tenderer identified in the Part Two appendix 

is awarded the design and build contract. 

 

4.0 Consultation  

4.1 None 

 

Page 104

Agenda Item 12



5.0  Alternative Options  

5.1 Do not award contract and retender the opportunity – the successful tenderer 

identified in the Part Two appendix scored high on quality overall and have 

significant experience of undertaking similar commissions. There is adequate 

funding in the project budget to undertake the required design work. 

 

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

6.1 Priority 2: Place: Creating a vibrant, safe & welcoming place where people want 

to live. 

Actions: 

- Deliver the Local Plan for developing housing sites throughout the Borough 

- Work with key partners to deliver transformative development at Marina Village, 

part of a comprehensive redevelopment of Barrow’s historic waterfront. 

Outcome: Our Borough has a diverse housing offer, where everyone can expect 

a decent home they can afford to live in. 

 

7.0 Implications  

7.1 Financial, Resources and Procurement  

7.1.1 The finance to deliver this project is available through the Brownfield Land Release 

Fund. Resources to supervise this contract will be made available through the 

Programme Management structure. This report is presented to gain approval for 

this procurement in order to comply with the Council’s Contract Standing Orders. 

 

7.2 Legal  

7.2.1 This appointment will be subject to entering into a formal contract. 

 

7.3 Local Government Reorganisation 

7.3.1 This project will continue beyond the creation of Westmorland and Furness       

Council and will need to be resourced within the new organisation. 

 

7.4   Equality and Diversity 
  

7.4.1 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No. There are no direct 
Equality and Diversity implications. 

 
Risk 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Delays to the project Delays to delivery on 

site and potential loss of 

funding. 

Enter into the contract 

immediately. Effective 

supervision of the 

contract. Close liaison 

with the Highways 

Authority 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Page 105

Agenda Item 12



   

 

Contact Officers  

Chris Jones, Head of Programme Management and Climate Change, 

cwjones@barrowbc.gov.uk  

 

Appendices attached to this report 

Appendix  

Part 2 Appendix 1 – details of 

tenderers and their scores 

This appendix is private and exempt from 

publication under Schedule 12A of the 

Local Government Act 1972, as amended 

by the Local Government (Access to 

Information) (Variation) Order 2006 for the 

following reason(s): Paragraph 3 – 

Information relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that 

information). 

 

 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document  Where it is available  

1 Brownfield Land Release Fund 

bid documents. 

2 Tender documentation 

Held by Head of Programme Management and 

Climate Change. 

Held on The Chest. 

 

Page 106

Agenda Item 12

mailto:cwjones@barrowbc.gov.uk


PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee 

Wednesday 14 September 2022 

Piel Island New Facilities Block 

 
 

Report from:   Director of People and Place 

Report Author:  Chris Jones 

Wards:    Roosecote; 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions  

1.1 The Council has secured £2m from ERDF and Cumbria LEP to deliver a 

programme of carbon reduction projects. One of these is “Zero Carbon Piel”, which 

includes within it the reprovision of toilet and shower facilities on the island. 

Following a competitive procurement and appraisal process, it is recommended 

that the successful tenderer identified in the Part Two appendix is awarded the 

design and build contract. Details of the tender opportunity and the appraisal 

process are set out in the paper. 

 

2.0  Recommendation  

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive Committee:-  

 

Awards the design and build tender for the Piel Island facilities block to 

the successful tenderer identified in the Part Two appendix. 

 

3.0 Background and Proposals  

3.1 The Low Carbon Barrow programme is a key part of the Council’s Climate Change 
Action Plan. Included in this programme is the Zero Carbon Piel project, the largest 
element of which is the replacement of the facilities block on the island. This will 
provide updated facilities for campers and visitors that are powered by renewable 
technologies. The updated facilities should in turn promote and support the 
operation of the Ship Inn. 

 
3.2 The work to construct the new facilities block will be completed by the end of March 

2023 as required by the funding of the programme. 
 

3.3 The Council advertised the opportunity via the Chest, with the proposed form of 
contract being a Design and Build Contract. 

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 13



Event Date 

Publish on Contracts Finder 29.03.2022 

Issue RFQ 07.04.2022 

Deadline for receipt of Tenders 10.05.2022 

Evaluation of Tenders 12.05.2022 

Intention to award contract decision 12.05.2022 

Standstill Period 10 days 

Indicative Starting Date September 2022 (subject to Exec 
Approval) 

  

 

The tender scores were weighted as follows: 

Price: 25% 

Quality (Service and Delivery): 20% 

 Quality (Experience): 30% 

Quality (Social Value and Climate Change): 25% 

 

3.5 The quality was assessed by a panel of five officers. The average quality score 

was added to the weighted score for price to give an overall score out of 1000 for 

each submission. 

 

3.6 The tenderers and their scores are shown in the Part 2 appendix. Please note this 

appendix is private and exempt from publication under Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to 

Information) (Variation) Order 2006 for the following reason; Paragraph 3 – 

Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that information). 

 

3.7 It is recommended that the successful tenderer identified in the Part Two appendix 

is awarded the design and build contract. 

 

4.0 Consultation  

4.1 The tenant of the Ship Inn has been consulted on the detail of the design. 

 

5.0  Alternative Options  

5.1 Do not award contract and retender the opportunity – the successful tenderer 

identified in the Part Two appendix scored high on quality overall. There is 

adequate funding in the project budget to undertake the project. This will be lost if 

the contract is not let. 

 

 

Page 108

Agenda Item 13



 

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

6.1 Priority 2: Place: Creating a vibrant, safe & welcoming place where people want 

to live. 

Actions: 

- Deliver our Climate Emergency Action Plan. 

- Enhanced greener spaces; public parks, beaches etc. 

- Work with partners to raise awareness of natural assets and celebrate them. 

Outcome: : Our environment is enhanced, protected and celebrated. 

 

7.0 Implications  

7.1 Financial, Resources and Procurement  

7.1.1 The finance to deliver this project is available through the Low Carbon Barrow 

programme. Resources to supervise this contract will be made available through 

the Programme Management structure. This report is presented to gain approval 

for this procurement in compliance with the Council’s Contract Standing Orders. 

 

7.2 Legal  

7.2.1 The appointment will be subject to entering into a formal contract. 

 

7.3 Local Government Reorganisation 

7.3.1 This project will be completed before the creation of Westmorland and Furness 

Council. The facilities will become an asset of the new authority. 

 

7.4   Equality and Diversity 
  

7.4.1 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes. The facility is designed 
to maximise accessibility for people with disabilities. 

 
Risk 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Delays to the project Delays to delivery on 

site and potential loss of 

funding. 

Enter into the contract 

immediately. Effective 

supervision of the 

contract. Close liaison 

with partners and 

suppliers. 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

   

 

Contact Officers  

Chris Jones, cwjones@barrowbc.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 109

Agenda Item 13



 

Appendices attached to this report 

Appendix  

Part 2 Appendix 1 – details of 

tenderers and their scores 

This appendix is private and exempt from 

publication under Schedule 12A of the 

Local Government Act 1972, as amended 

by the Local Government (Access to 

Information) (Variation) Order 2006 for the 

following reason(s): Paragraph 3 – 

Information relating to the financial or 

business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that 

information). 

 

 

 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document  Where it is available  

1.Tender documents 

2. Project Modification request 

 

Held on The Chest. 

Held by Head of Programme Management and 

Climate Change.  

  

Page 110

Agenda Item 13



Document is Restricted

Page 111

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 113

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 Minutes
	9 2022 Air Quality Annual Status Report and Air Quality Grant
	Appendix 1 - 2022 Air Quality Annual Status Report and Air Quality Grant
	Executive Summary: Air Quality in Our Area
	Air Quality in the Borough of Barrow-in-Furness
	Actions to Improve Air Quality
	Conclusions and Priorities
	Local Engagement and How to Get Involved
	Local Responsibilities and Commitment
	Figure A.2 – Trends in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations measured at Diffusion Tube Background Site (Dowdales School 1993-2020 [Bias Adjusted])………………………………………....10


	1 Local Air Quality Management
	2 Actions to Improve Air Quality
	2.1 Air Quality Management Areas
	2.2 Progress and Impact of Measures to address Air Quality in Barrow-in-Furness Borough
	2.3 PM2.5 – Local Authority Approach to Reducing Emissions and/or Concentrations

	3 Air Quality Monitoring Data and Comparison with Air Quality Objectives and National Compliance
	3.1 Summary of Monitoring Undertaken
	3.1.1 Automatic Monitoring Sites
	3.1.2 Non-Automatic Monitoring Sites

	3.2 Individual Pollutants
	3.2.1 Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2)
	Table A.3 in Appendix A compares the ratified and adjusted monitored NO2 annual mean concentrations for the past five years with the air quality objective of 40µg/m3. Note that the concentration data presented represents the concentration at the locat...
	For diffusion tubes, the full 2021 season dataset of monthly mean values is provided in Appendix B. Note that the concentration data presented in Table B.1 includes distance corrected values, only where relevant.
	The measured annual mean concentrations in 2021 for NO2 indicate that the objective of 40µg/m3 was not exceeded at any of the monitoring locations in the Borough. The 2021 monitoring campaign for of NO2 at Lindal In Furness has resulted in an increase...

	Figure A.2: Trends in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations measured at Diffusion Tube Background Site (Dowdales School 1993-2021 [Bias Adjusted])
	Figure A.3: Trends in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations measured at Diffusion Tube Background Site (Dowdales School 2012-2021 [Bias Adjusted])
	Figure A.4: Trends in Annual Mean Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations measured at Diffusion Tube Roadside Site (Lindal in Furness 2012-2021 [Bias Adjusted])
	Background monitoring at the only location remaining from the original monitoring programme is shown in Figure A.2 (Dowdales School) and Figure A.3 for the 10 year trend. Both graphs indicates a decreasing trend in annual mean background NO2 concentra...
	The other sites monitored in 2021 had been monitored for less than 5 years so trends have not been mapped for those sites.
	3.2.2 Particulate Matter (PM10)
	3.2.3 Particulate Matter (PM2.5)
	3.2.4 Sulphur Dioxide (SO2)


	Appendix A: Monitoring Results
	Appendix B: Full Monthly Diffusion Tube Results for 2021
	Appendix C: Supporting Technical Information / Air Quality Monitoring Data QA/QC
	New or Changed Sources Identified Within the Borough of Barrow-in-Furness During 2021
	Additional Air Quality Works Undertaken by Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council During 2021
	QA/QC of Diffusion Tube Monitoring
	Diffusion Tube Annualisation
	Diffusion Tube Bias Adjustment Factors
	Table C.1 – Bias Adjustment Factor
	NO2 Fall-off with Distance from the Road


	Appendix D: Map(s) of Monitoring Locations


	10 ECO4 LA Flex Statement of Intent
	11 2021-2022 Outturn
	Enc. 1 for 2021-2022 Outturn
	Enc. 2 for 2021-2022 Outturn
	Enc. 3 for 2021-2022 Outturn
	Enc. 4 for 2021-2022 Outturn
	Final MTFP 2022-2025
	Final MTFP Internal App1

	Enc. 5 for 2021-2022 Outturn

	12 Brownfield Land Release Fund - Design Works (Part 1)
	13 Piel Island New Facilities Block (Part 1)
	14 Part 2 Appendix 1 for Item 11 (Brownfield Land Release Fund - Design Works)
	15 Part 2 Appendix 1 for Item 12 Piel Island New Facilities Block

